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Greetings from Naoki Shibatsuji, Executive Director of Invincible Investment
Corporation and President & CEO of Consonant Investment Management Co.,
Ltd.

It gives me great pleasure to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude for
your ongoing support of Invincible Investment Corporation (INV). INV would like to
express its heartfelt sympathies to all those affected by the Great East Japan Earthquake
(the Earthquake) that occurred on March 11, 2011.

During the 16th period (covering the period from January 1, 2011 to June 30, 2011), the
Japanese economy showed signs of recovery in the backdrop of the global economic
recovery trend, however economic conditions still remain severe due to factors such as
deflation and the failure to alleviate a feeling of unsteadiness in regards to the outlook
on employment. Additionally, after the Earthquake, it has proven hard for the
Japanese economy to dispel the sense of uncertainty regarding the future of the
economy with fragile consumer expectations and a decline in production due to the
effect of the nuclear accident, etc.

In this operating environment, with respect to our performance for the 16th period,
operating revenue was JPY 2,277 million, operating income was JPY 800 million,
ordinary income was JPY (52) million, and net income was JPY (1,308) million. With
respect to the distribution for the 16th period, we have determined to implement the
distribution of a total of JPY 127 million (distribution per unit of JPY 200), by utilizing
JPY 1,435 million from retained earnings carried forward of JPY 4,480 million after the
distribution for the previous fiscal period.

INV believes that, in order for INV to establish a stable financial foundation and
implement a viable medium to long-term growth strategy, it is vital to invite a reliable
sponsor, and has conducted extensive discussions and negotiations in this regard. Asa
result of these negotiations, on July 29, 2011, INV has invited Calliope Godo Kaisha
(Calliope), an affiliate of Fortress Investment Group LLC (FIG), the first publicly listed
alternative investment manager in the U.S. and a global investment management firm
(Calliope, FIG and its affiliate are referred to collectively as “Fortress™), to be the parent
company of our asset management company. Furthermore, INV has implemented (i)
raising funds through the issuance of new investment units by way of a third-party
allotment with Calliope as the main allottee, and, in addition, (ii) on the same date, new



long-term borrowings and repayment of, or modification of terms and conditions of, the
existing borrowings. For details, please refer to “To all of our unitholders” on page 4
below.

INV will strive to further increase unitholder value by proceeding to realize steady
internal growth and external growth, as well as the construction of a stable financial
structure through solid relationships with the Japanese and overseas financial
institutions of Fortress.

Moreover, INV will continue in its commitment to provide stable medium-and
long-term cash flow to investors conduct asset management activities by always
remaining conscious of “asset finance”.

We look forward to receiving the continued support of all of our unitholders.
Naoki Shibatsuji

Executive Director, Invincible Investment Corporation
President and CEO, Consonant Investment Management Co., Ltd.

Fixed The 16th fiscal period Per investment unit JPY 200
Distributions (the fiscal period ended June

2011)
Forecast The 17th fiscal period Per investment unit JPY 200
Distributions (the fiscal period ending

December 2011)
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Directors
Invincibie [nvestment Corporation

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Invincible Investment Corperation, which comprise
the balance sheets as at June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013,
and December 31, 2013, and the statements of operations and retained earnings, changes in net assets, and cash
flows for the six-month periods then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information, all expressed in Japanese yen.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, and for designing and operating such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstaternent of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. The purpose of an
audit of the financial statements is not to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control,
but in making these risk assessments the auditor considers internal conirols relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in alf material respects, the financial
position of Invincible Investment Corporation as at June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012,
December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013, and December 31, 2013, and its financial performance and cash flows for
the six-month periods then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.
Convenience Translation

We have reviewed the translation of these financial statements into U.S. dollars, presented for the convenience
of readers, and, in our opinion, the accompanying financial statements have been properly translated on the

basis described in Note 4.

March 25,2014
Tokyo, Japan

A member firm of Ernst & Young Glabal Limited

Invincible Investment Corporation (T. 8963)
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Invincible Investment Corporation (T. 8963)

- INVINCIBLE INVESTMENT CORPORATION
— BALANCE SHEETS
- As of June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012,
: December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013
o Asof
Jure 30, Degernber 31, Jume 30, December 31, June 30, December 31, December 31,
s 2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
(ntousndof
{nhousmds ofyen) US dolfrsy
- ASSETS
Current assets:
- Cash and bank depasits (Notes 5, 8and 20)... ...... ¥ 24718 ¥ 314728 ¥ 3080041 0¥ 540 ¥ lA27A®E ¥ 1457257 5 13837
Cash and bank deposits in trust (Notes 5, 8 and 20). . 2203864 2056,083 2130105 2786480 2690331 2726902 25522
Rertel rocsivablss. .o evovorsierserireome e 23893 15,380 19103 18370 17,407 10,948 103
776 422 208 664 139 0 v}
- 647,357 096,804 690,495 T48197 - -
57,458 181,805 164,645 208,056 211,587 122321 1161
204572 - 311 115447 - 7419 70
- - - - - 10 i
- G11) (81) 7 {1.528) (2573) (24)
4560185 4,048,020 6113388 4564147 5093620 4325286 41,071
Non-cwrrent assets:
Property and equipment (Notes 6,7 and 8):
Buildings, ato0st, ... ..o 2,680,174 2680174 2680,174 2680174 2680.174 2680174 25450
Buildings and accompanying Bicilities, a cost......... 50,691 50,691 30691 50,691 50,601 50,601 481
SHrICTES, 8 O0BL...oe.eeeeceereemrrecch e eraeaas 3848 3848 3,848 3,848 33848 3848 36
I« P 2713620 2713620 2713620 2713620 2713620 2713620 25,767
Buildings intrust, @oost . .....ooovvveien e 24,148,023 23628015 25,030,036 20,664,262 29,677,855 29762419 282617
Buildings and accompanying facilities in trust, at cost. 4357418 4283735 4301482 660849 6713907 6,763,740 64,326
Structures RIS, A0Sk .1 o eaee v 233,668 236,536 37,7 204 542 312,020 320,904 3047
Tools, fimitare and fixtures intrust, at cost ... ... 84,848 93415 106,361 123,699 142,175 155,616 1477
Landintrust .. 36018054 31,056,639 31,036,639 36,582,527 36,580,527 36582527 347379
Subtctal............. T0.250,348 64,146,678 64,180,606 78,721,864 78,876,861 79.033,544 750,484
Less: Accumuleted Gepreciation. ....vv..erceereone 2133278) (248713) {2898.398) (3379.021) (3922,662) 4450083) 42256)
Total propenty and equipment,net....... ... ......... 68157070 61,659,964 61282207 75,342,842 954,199 4,583,461 708227
1,706 1046 621 244 167 137 I
1,706 146 21 244 167 137 1
10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 4
- 336,563 263,982 253,406 158394 24371 2130
27297 27,991 28686 29,381 32680 33,375 316
37297 374,555 302,669 0T8T L075 2746 2542
Tott] HON-CUrTentassets . .. ........cooiiei e ee 68,196,073 62,035,566 61,585498 Ta635874 75155443 74,851,345 710,771
TOTALASSETS ... e ¥ 73,165,258 ¥ 68,083,586 ¥ 67698887 ¥ 80,200,022 ¥ 80249063 ¥ 7176632 3 758




Invincible Investment Corporation (T. 8963)

Asof
. ] Jume 30, Decerniber 31, June 30, Decerber 31, Jane 30, Decerber 31, December 31,
i 2011 2611 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
4 [Ar—
R finthousards ofyen) LIS dolirs)
e LIABILITIES
gl
] Current linbifities:
rrmed Acocounts payable . . ¥ O10999 ¥ 123229 ¥ 76887 ¥ 133791 ¥ 151861 ¥ 174201 5 1,654
Short<term loans payable (Notes 8,9 andZO) ........ 25,796,425 - - - - - -
e Currezt pontion of Tong-zenm loans payable
: (Notes & 9.amd 20). . . 16,800,000 262,000 262,000 262,000 262,000 203,520 1932
: Curent portion oﬂmg-mn'nloars payable Lmrust . _ _
e (Notes 8 S end 20). - . - 105,233 100
Acoomnts payabla—oﬁxer ......................... 8617 8791 6062 18,748 4375 5000 47
o L ACCTUBAEXPEIISES ... irveeirenenenrsrenasanans 284308 365,166 371834 362,514 354,066 29,843 2182
Incoms taxes payable 465 497 506 503 527 525 4
: , Cotisurnplion texes payabie . . e - 59,401 - - 24502 - -
E Advances received............ 20611 281,564 288,162 378,110 31478 385,886 3664

) m Deposits received ... .......... B, 4466 5623 3307 5268 8601 5048 47

I Tote! crorvers Babifities . . ..............c.cooeeeee 43,296,854 1106273 1008782 1,161,597 1,183,809 1109859 10,538

: Nom-carrent hiabilities:

— Long-term loms payable (Notes 8, 9and20) ... - 20472,500 20,341,500 22,760,500 22,629,500 20,146,480 191,306
Longerm loans payable in tust (Notes 8, 9and 20). - 11,000,000 11,000,000 20,960,000 20,960:000 20,854,165 198,026

e (1;?;1; lg)asehdd and security deposits in toust L113610 930,462 05696 1059315 1048535 1037721 9833
: Tenant leasehold and security deposits (Nate 20) .. . 183,579 183,57 183,579 183,57% 183,579 183,579 1,743
e IS

- 1423111 1413153 1404333 1395513 - -
: 1,297,190 34,000,654 33,363,009 46,367,728 46217228 4222148 400,930
44,594,084 35115928 #3271 47520325 47401038 43,331,808 411469
i v NET ASSETS (Note 1) .
E Unitholders’ equity:

e Unitholders’ capital. .__.........oevevieeeriiiceeienn 19,134,417 26,134.3% 26,134,396 26,134,396 26,134,396 29,134,389 276633
. Capital SIplus. ......ocoveiee 6264432 6264432 6264432 6264432 6264432 6264432 39485
. A Retinedeamings. .. ..o oooiice e, 317234 568,80 427346 271,868 449,196 446,003 4235

: Total unitholders’ equity ..o ovvevenii i 28571173 32967658 32,826,175 32,670,697 32,848,025 35,844.824 340374

TOTALNETASSETS .....cociiiiiii e 28571173 32,967,658 32,826,175 32,670,697 32,848,025 33,844,824 340374

C TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS .. ... ¥ 73165258 ¥ 6R083586 ¥ 67608887 ¥ BO200022 ¥ 80249063 ¥ 79176632 B 751843

The acoompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
oL
.

.
o
]
_.'__d
1
—




Invincible Investment Corporation (T. 8963)

INVINCIBLE INVESTMENT CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND RETAINED EARNINGS
For the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012,
December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013

For the six momths ended

June 30, December 31, Jume: 30, December 31, Jume 30, Decernber 31,  Decernber 31,

2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
(mthousands of

(i thousands of yen) US. dollers)
Operating reveme

Renttal revenue —real estate (Note 12) ... ¥ 2277374 ¥ 230248 ¥ 2176839 ¥ 2476430 ¥ 270077 ¥ 2MOM9 5 26022
2271374 2202448 2176839 2476430 2,760,177 2740449 26022
Property related expenses (Note 12). ooweoeneceemereneriemer 1,151,606 1.1375% 1024277 1,156,672 1295403 1261221 11,976
Lioss on sdles of properties (Note 16) - 1012716 - - - - -
2,706 4200 4,800 4800 4,800 4,800 45
Asset anaEement TeS . vvwiin e 150,256 150,055 150,000 130,067 125,000 125,000 1,186
Asget uStodY BES. ... .eve e 7435 3,541 3328 3351 3911 3986 37
Administrative Servie B85, 0vvvvee e i 41316 35379 25273 24,781 21531 19,089 181
Provision of allowance for doubtfil acoowts... ............ - 311 646 797 730 1,M5 ]
Bad bt xDmES, v 561 20 L137 - - 2561 24
L0, U OO T OO UTN 123,155 267,558 73303 71,78 77,562 56,975 541
Ttiz] GPETaNG PSS, . e oo oe e e oo e 1477031 2612417 1,282,766 1392258 1,528940 1474679 14,003
Operating ineome (J85), ...+ ... eeoereeeenmsceeenens 800,43 (409.968) 894,072 1084171 1231237 1,265,770 12019
837 30 515 487 383 400 3
- - - - - 354,737 3368
- 1,000,187 - - - - -
4811 3983 1875 2904 3088 106 3
5698 1004721 2390 3391 3472 355,544 3376
TIbEESt EXPEIEES ..o eveve e ecerce e eree bt 598410 766,171 695,689 763,201 800,615 672128 6382
Lomelaed CORS v vvvvnrinireenreserinrr e 258318 2155344 73,562 208347 %6816 579038 5498
Tnvestment urtt BSUanee costS. .....ov.veveniameeeeeneenn - 137,369 - - - 15487 U7
TR IO NS 18}, e reaenee e e 1249817 - - - . - -
Loss OniSaseT (NG 17)...cvvcvceee e 5757 9330 - - - - -
1655 1387 1230 1230 1,593 1,300 12
2113958 3070303 THA82 a2 TR 809026 1267953 12040
(1307917 (2475,550) 125981 114,784 335,683 353,360 3355
(1307917) (2475,550) 125,981 114,784 335,683 353360 3355
605 505 605 604 605 605 5
- - ) - - - -
603 603 (2194) 604 605 6035 5
(1,308,522) (2476,155) 128175 114,179 335078 352,755 3349
4480847 3044985 209171 157,688 114118 93,247 885

¥ 317234 ¥ 568830 ¥ 427346 ¥ 271868 ¥ 449196 ¥ 446003 S 4235

The ing notes are an integral part of these fimancial




Invincible Investment Corporation (T. 8963)

INVINCIBLE INVESTMENT CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012,
December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013

Unitholders’ squity
Surplos Tol
Unitholders' Copital Reteined Total umitholders’
capital Kuplus camings qupius equity Total net assets
(i thousands of e
Balance as of Jaary 1, 2011.. . ¥ 19134417 ¥ 6264432 ¥ 4757800 ¥ 11022241 ¥ 30156638 ¥ 30156638
Changes during the pesiod ... ... e
Dividends fiom sarplus, .. ... - - (276.962) (276.962) (276,562 276,962
NEEIOSS. ..o eeee e - - (1.308522) (1,308,527 (1308522 (1308,527)
Total changes duringthe perdod. . ......cooviieieiienns - - (15854848 {1.585484) (15854840 (L585,484)
Belance ssof ime 30,2011 ... ¥ 15,134.417 ¥ 6264432 ¥ 3,172,324 ¥ 9436,756 ¥ 2857L173 ¥ 28571173
Tssuance of new vesment units. .................. 6999979 - - - 6999979 6999979
Tvidends fromsopliss, ..o - - (127339 (127,33%) (327339 (127.33%
B e SN - - (2476,155) (2:476,155) (2476,155) (2476,155)
Totel changes duringtheperiod . ............cooiiieons E990.979 - (2,603,454 (2,603,404) 4396485 4396485
Balance as of December 31,2010 ... ¥ 26,134 396 ¥ 6264432 ¥ 568,830 ¥ 6,833262 ¥ 32967658 ¥ 32967658
Chemges during the pesiod
Dividends from amphas. ... ..o - - (265,638) (269,658 (269.658) (269658
NELOOTEE. « ..o e oeeteceeieetemeeaaamaeaacanes - - 8175 128175 128173 128,175
Totnl changes duringthe period. . . .o.vvovvviiviinnnns - - (141.483) {141.483) (141483) {141,483)
Bdance ssof fme 30,2012, ..o ¥ 2613439% ¥ 6264432 ¥ 427386 ¥ 6691778 ¥ mR%I7 ¥ 32826175
Changes during the period
Dividends from sueplus. ... - - (269,658) (269,658) (269,658) (269.558)
NEEIOOIIE, . e e eeee et aeae e eaeeeemaens - - 114179 114,179 114,17% 114,179
Toal chenges during the period. .. .....oeevinninecnn e, - - {155478) {15547%) (155478) (15547%
Bdanceasof Decamber 3L2012.. ... ¥ 25,134,396 ¥ 6264432 ¥ 271,868 ¥ 6,536,300 ¥ 32670697 ¥ 32670697
Changes during the pexiod
Dividends from surplus. . ... - - (157730 (157,750) {157,150y (137,750
T3 NEHICOME. ..ot veeeriveeeiieeeeseeeiinemreenas - - 335078 335,078 335,078 335,078
Total changes during the period. ...............ooeeiiin.. - - 177,328 177,328 177328 177328
Bdancess of e 30,2013, ... ¥ 26134396 ¥ 6764432 ¥ 49196 ¥ 6713628 ¥ ODBAR025 ¥ 32348005
Changes during the period
[ssuznce ofnew Hrvetment urits... . ..ouveenveen . 2900002 - - - 2959992 2909992
Dividends from surplus. .. ......covvnvni i, - - (355949} {355949) (355,949) (355549)
NGO, | .o e e caen e aaees s - - 352755 352755 352,755 352755
Total changes duringtheperiod ...........coovviienonee. 2599957 - (3193 (3153) 2996795 2596759
Bdmee asofDecember 31,2013, ... ve i e ¥ 29,134,380 ¥ 6264432 ¥ 446,003 ¥ 6,710435 ¥ 35844824 ¥ 358448)4




Invincible Investment Corporation (T. 8963)

Unitholders' equity
Surphis Total
Unitholders’ Capital Retzined Tetal umithelders’
capital surplus earnings sutplus equty Total net assets
(inthousands of U.S. doflas)
Balance as of ene 30,2003, . ... $ 248166 3 39485 % 4265 H 63,751 H 311917 % 311,917
Changes deringtheperiod .. ...
Issugnce of new investment s ..., ..o.vevveenn.n 28487 - - - 28487 28487
Divickends fom sumplus. ... ..o - - (3,380) (3380 (3380) (3.380y
NELRICOME. - .. e eee e eeicea e e e - - 3349 3349 3349 3349
Total changes during the-petiod. .. ... oo 28487 - [€)] (30) 28456 28456
Balance as of Decemiber31,2013....................... ... H 376653 % 59485 § 4235 § 63,720 § 340374 § 340374
- The acompanying netes are an integral part of these financial statements.
T




Invincible Investment Corporation (T. 8963)

INVINCIBLE INVESTMENT CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012,
December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013

Forthe six months ended
June 30, Decermnber 31, June: 30, Dexernber 31, June 30, Decernber 31, December 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
(inthousands of
(in thonsands of ver) US. dollars)
Cash flows from operating activities:
¥ (W70 ¥ @4mssy T 125,9? ¥ 14786 ¥ B ¥ 3360 S 3355
428907 422744 412110 481,000 543,717 527451 5008
1249817 - i ; ; . -
- (L000,157) ; ; - - -
5757 9330 ; ; . . ]
_ _ R - - (354,737 (3368)
- - - - - 15487 147
258318 2,155,844 73,562 208,347 96,816 579,038 5498
@3 (1279) & (1359 {433) (683) ®
(387 (340 {319 (487 (383) (400) 3
SORALD 766,171 695,689 73,201 0615 672,128 6382
Tncrease (decease) m dlowames fr
doubifidl scoms. ] (56) n 518 (33 T30 1045 9
Decrease (mmeesc) in IBmBl reoetvabks . (L323) 8512 (902) 733 962 6458 61
Decrease (increase) m deposits paid............ - {64735T) (49446) 6,308 (57,701) 748197 7104
Decresse (increase) in
cousurpon mxes recsivabl. ..., ... 204373 14572 BN 3133 13447 (7415) )
Decrease (increase) in gnarantes deposits. ... 60 - - - - - -
Increase (decrease) i
wnmn;gmmaxm):;yabk %5170 01 G900 B 902 (@4.502) (36)
Increase { decreass) in acoouns payable. ... .. ©5) 10387 (38383) 62798 17453 24617 23
Increase (decreasd)in
accourts payablo-cther. . (3252) 1600 (340 13,696 (13.577) - -
croase {decrosso)in accroed expenses. ... 116936 (176415) (570) (31,.930) 9112 (127432) (1210
Increzse (decreasd) in advances rwm'ed. ...... (3,047 (34,163) 6,598 AG07 {1254) 8411 b
Increase {decresse) i depositsreceived.. . (3213 1156 2315 1960 1333 (359) o)
Decresse in property andequrpmmt n lmst, B 6128165 R B _ R }
dustosde...
Cthez, net. . .. . 4,396 (16,703) 16327 1044 (2456) 5481 52
Subtotal ..o eeeieae e \een 342,644 3416389 115467G 1619439 1872971 2422548 23,003
Interest ncome received. . 887 540 493 487 383 390 3
Totirest exprnses pad. (50L,708) (527.019) 688459) (A0 18,564) (650982) (6181}
Paymems forlosson disaster. .. . @714 (8706) (3.667) - - - -
Tncome taxes peid. (135 (573) (595) (608) (581) {606) &)
Net cash provided by (usad m)
opersting activiics.. o (61,025) 4880630 462,441 278909 1,054,609 1,771350 16,820
Cash flows from i lmmmg activities:
Puzcheses of property
and QQUIpMEAT I ISE « ...\ .oee. oo, (143419 (30923 (8277) (14,347,095) (154421 (158,960} {1505
! d -~ -
oot e o) e e (9369 (5409 sy “m
Proceeds fom tenart Jeaschold -
e 150,878 55012 45436 174339 2,162 39531 375
T - - (694 ) (3298) (694 ®
Net cash used in investing activities. ........... (357 598) (205676} {42,810) (14412,815) (167967 (169,885 (1,613)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of short-term loans payalde. . ... (369,060) {25,796,425) - - - - R
Proceeds from long-ermloans payable. . ... . - 21,200,000 - 13,400,000 - 20,350,000 193,239
Repayments of loag e loans payali........ ) £16.265302) (131,000 {L0S8L000) (131,000) (D89L500) 21737)
Proceeds from leng-em
Joans peyablein st ............. - FLO0D.000 - 960000 - -
Payments for loan-related costs. .. ... . (167,190) (1,159018) (10452 (251.904) (10,636} {1618,501} {15,368
Digmibagtion payments. .. ........ov v veeuens (276,87T) {127,595 {270,167y (27,196) (157.800) (355323) (3374
Proceeds from issuance of investment urts. . .. - 6999979 - - - 2999592 22487
O, D e (1,265) (1,265) {1,230 (1.230) {1,300} (16,787 {159)
Netcash pmvtdedby(umd m)
P, vledm (314392) {4,149.631) (412,845, 11,855,670 (00737 (1532,119) (14,548)
Net increase (decnease) in
cash amd cash CqUVARTS. ..o .. (1,233,017) 521,323 6,780 (1,678.236) 585,905 69,344 658
ot s qutvalents at 5915060 4682043 5203365 5210146 3531310 4117815 19101
begioningofperiod ...
m‘;dm“q‘“"’m atend ‘f""'“"d ¥ 4680043 ¥ S3366 ¥ S20M6 ¥ 3SI0I0 ¥ 4ITRIS ¥ 4187160 0§ 39760

The accompeanying notes are an integral part of these finansial statements.




Invincible Investment Corporation (T. 8963)

INVINCIBLE INVESTMENT CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012,
December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013

1. Organization
Tnvincible Tnvestment Corporation (the “Company” ), 2 real estate fnvestment corporation, was incorporated on January 18, 2002, under the Act on
Tivestment Trusts and Investment Corporations of Japan (the “Investment Trust Act” ) with initial capital of 200 million.

The Company is externally managed bv a registered asset management company, Consonant Investmert Management Co., Ltd (the “Asset
Manager” ). The Asset Manager i eurrently owned 100% by Calliope Godo Kaisha (Calliope). The Company was formed to invest primarily in
properties in Japan. -

On May 17, 2004, the Company raised ¥3,377.250 thousand through an initial public offering of 9,000 investment wmits. As a “comprehensive
imvestment REIT focusing on the Tokyo metropolitan area and on residential properties,” The Company was listed on the Osaka Securities Exchange in
May 2004,

On February 7, 2005, the Company completed its second public offering of 10,650 invesoment units at a price of ¥369,734 per unit in connection with a
public offering in Japan.

On July 31, 2006, the Cornpanty completed its third public offering of 25,000 investment units at a price of ¥332,045 per unit in connection with a public
offering in Japan. The Company was listed on the J-REIT market of the Tolyo Stock Exchange in August 2006 (in arder to focus trading on one
securities exchange and reduce administrative tasks and costs accompanying a duplicate listing, The Company delisted from the Osaka Securities
Exchange on October 6, 2007).

Effective on February 1, 2010, the Company execurted a five-to-one unit split and 215,596 invesoment units were issued in connection with the umit spiie
Effective on the same day, the Company also merged with LCP Investrnent Corporation (LCP) and allocated 367,200 investment umnits at a ratio of 4
units (post-umit split) of fhe Company per one investment unit of LCP.  As a result, mvestmert units issued and cutstanding were 636,695 units as of
February 1, 2010,

On huly 29, 2011, the Company completed a third party allotment of 711,597 investment nits at a price of ¥9,837 per unit

On Decernber 20, 2013, the Comparyy completed a third party allotment of 224,887 investiment units at a price of ¥13,340 per unit
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

{a) Basis of Presentation
The Company maintains its acoounts and records in conformity with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese
GAAP™), including provisions set forth in the Investment Trust Act, the Companies Act of Japan, the Financial Instuments and Exchange Act of Japan,
and other related regulations, which are different in certain respects from the application and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standards or accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The financial statements are prepared based on the Japanese audited financial statements of the Company, which were prepared in accordance with
Japanese GAAP and filed with the Kanto Local Finance Bureau as required by the Financial Instnmments and Exchange Act of Japan. In preparing the
accompanying financtal statements, certain information in the notes has been added and certam reclassifications have been made fom the financial
statements issued domestically for the convenience of the readers outside Japen.

The financiat statemnents are not mtended to present the financial position and the results of operations m accordance with acoounting principles and
practices generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than Japan.

The Company’s fiscal period is a six-month period, which ends at the end of June and December of each year.

Amounts less than ¥1 thousand and US$ 1 thousand have been roumded down. As a result, the totals shown in the financtal statements and notes thereto
do not necessarily agree with the sum of the individual amounis,

The Compary does not prepare consolidated financial statements as it has no subsidiaries.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, demand deposits, and short-term investments which are highiy liquid and readily convertible to cash, have a
fow risk of price fluctuation, and mature within three months from the date of acquisition.

(¢) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded 2t cost. Depreciation of property and equiptment, except for land, is caleulated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated usefiil lives of the assets as stated below:

Torthe s months ended

June 30, December 31, Tune30, Decerber 31, Tune30, December 31,

2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013
BUikdOS. ..o oo 4077 yems 4077 yeas 4077 yeurs 4077 yeums 4097 yers 4077 yeas
Buildings ad accompanying faciiies ... .. 32 324 32 34 34 32
Structes. ... 118 318 318 18 318 318
BuikgS ML ..o 665 665 665 666 666 666
Buildings and accompanying facifitiesintust... 332 332 33 L) 332 im
SHTuchres I Us, ... ....ooo oo 230 330 330 355 335 385
Tools, firmitme and fxtumesin s, .......... 210 215 215 215 %15 215

(d) Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis.

(e) Long-term Prepaid Expenses
Long-term prepaid expenses are amortized on a straight-line basis.

() Investment Unit Issuance Costs
Investment urit issuance costs are recorded as expenses when incurred.

(g) Alowance for Doubtful Accounts
Allowance for doubtiul accounts is provided based on past experienice for normal receivables and an vabuation of any receivables from compantes and
individuals with financial difficulties.

(h) Impairment of Fixed Assets
An assessment for impairment is carried out on an asset or group of assets, such as fixed assets, intangible assets and investments, whenever events or
changes in. circumstances indicate that the camying amount may not be recoverable. ¥ the asset or group of assets is deemed to be impaired, an

impairment Ioss is recognized for the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable value of the asset or group of assets using the
discounted cash flow model.
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(M  Acconnting Treatment of Trust Beneficiary Interests in Real Estate Trusts
For trust beneficiary interests in real estate trusts, which are commonly utilized to obtain ownership in investment properties in Japan and through which
the Company holds all of its real estate, all assets and labilities with respect to assets in trust, as well as afl income generated and expenses incurred with
respect fo assets in trust, are recorded in the relevant accounts of the balance sheet and statement of operations and retained earnings of the Company in
proportion to the percentage that such trust beneficiary interest represents. Certam material accounts with respect to assets and [iabilities in trust are
presented separately from other accounts in the balance sheets of the Compary.

() IncomeTaxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and income tax basis of assets and
liabilities using the applicable statutory tax rate.

(k) Consumption Taxes
Consumption taxes withtheld and consmmption taxes paid are not included in the statements of operations and retained eamings. Consurnption taxes paid
are generally offset against the balance of consumption taxes withheld. As such, the excess of payments over amounts withheld are included in current
assets and the excess of arounts withheld over payments are included in current liahilities as the case may be.

(' Taxes on Property and Equipment
Property and equipmers are subject to various taxes, such as property taxes :nd urban planning taxes on an annual basis. An owner of a property is
registered in the record maintaimed by the local government in each jurisdiction, and such taxes are imposed on the owner registered in the record as of
January 1 of each vear based on the assessment made by the local government.

Under the above tax rukes, a seller of a property at the time of disposal is Hable for these taxes on the property from the date of disposal to the end of the
calendar year in which the property is disposed. The seller, however, is reimbursed by the purchaser for these accrued tax liabilities and the amount of
settlement reflects this adjustment. For the purchaset, a portion of such taxes calculated from the acquisition date 1o the end of the calendar vear is
capitalized as a cost of the property in accordance with Japanese GAAP. In subsequent calendar years, half of such taxes on property and equipment for
each calendar year are charped as operating expenses in each fiscal period.

Taxes on property and equipment capitalized as part of the acquisition cost of properties amounted to ¥16,270 thousand for the six months ended
December 31, 2012. No taxes on property and equipment were capitalized for the each of the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June
30, 2012, Jure 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013.

3. New Accounting Policies

(@) Aeccounting Standard for Asset Refirement Obligations
On March 31, 2008, the Accounting Standards Board of Japan (*ASBT"} issued Statemert No.18 “Accounting Standard for Asset Retirernent
Obligations™ and ASBJ Guidance No.21 “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations™. The new standard requires that a
statutory or similar obligation with regards to the removal of tangible fixed assets be recognized as a liability at the present value of the estimated future
cash flows when the related assets are acquired,

The Company adopted the new standard for asset retirement obligations from the six months ended June 30}, 2011. The spplication of this new standard
d%fl not have material impact on the financial position as of June 30, 2011 or the results of operation for the six months then ended.

() Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and Error Corrections
Effective from the six months ended December 31, 2011, the Company adopted “Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and Firor Corrections™
(ASDJ Statement No.24 issued on Decernber 4, 2009) and *“Guidance on Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and Exror Corrections” (ASBJ
Guidance No.24 issued on December 4, 2009).

This new accounting standard requires that accounting changes and corrections of prior period errors, which are made affer the beginning of fiscal years
beginning on or after April 1, 2011, should be adopted or cortected retrospectivety.

4. U.S. Dollar Amounts

The Company maintains its accounting records in Japanese yen. The U.S. dollar amounts inchuded in the accompanying financial statements and notes
thereto represent the arfthmetical result of translating Japanese yen into ULS. dollars at the rate of ¥105.31 = USS$!, the effective rate of exchange
prevailing at December 31, 2013. The inclusion of such U.S, doflar amounts associated with the fiscal six months ended December 31, 2013 is solely for
the convenience of readers outside Japan. Such translations should nat be construed as representations that the Japanese yen amounts represent, or have
been, or could be converted into, ULS. dollars at that or axty other rate.
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5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents shown in the staternents of cash flows consist of the following balance sheet items.
Asof
Jime 30, December 31, Jume 30, Decernber 31, June 30, Decerrber 31, Deoernber 31,
2011 011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013

- {in thousands of

{in thousands of yem) US. dillars)
Cash a6 barik ApO8itS. .o oevooeerveeeve s ¥ 2478178 ¥ 3147282 ¥ 3080041 ¥ 5429 % 1427483 ¥ 1457257 S 13837
Cosh and bank deposits IR Ut .. oo oo 2203864 2,056,083 2,130,103 2,786,480 2690331 2729962 2500
Cach and cash eqUiVAENtS. ...... ...o..c.ne.... ¥ 468243 ¥ 5203366 ¥ 3210046 ¥ 3531010 ¥ A1TRIS ¥ 4187160 S 39760

6. Property and Equipment
The following tables show the summary of movement in property and equipment for the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30,
2012, December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013, respectively:

For the six movahs ended June 30, 2011:
At cost
Beginming, Ending Accurmilated Depreciationfor ~ Netpropetty and
balamcs Increase Decrease belance deprediation the period equipment
(in thousands of yer))
2680174 ¥ . ¥ - % 2680174 ¥ 8034 ¥ 27605 ¥ 2599824
50,691 - - 50,691 15204 2973 15487
3848 - - 3848 85 139 3005
2713620 - - 2713620 - - 2713620
24338907 3047 221,301 24,148,023 1,177,568 218975 22570455
Buildings and accoumpmying faclities intrust ... 4311230 64,682 18,404 4357418 789,320 160,876 3568098
SHTUCKITES ITUSE. ... . oee e eeceeeieeeieeees 0053 3618 3 253,668 40400 10.887 193,267
Tools, firniture and fixtures introst ... 77,593 7318 62 34,848 29592 6789 55,256
Landintrust coovu e inseae e en e 37,028,008 - 1009954 36,018,054 - - 36,018,054
TOEL ..o e ¥ AR ¥ 06037 ¥ 1249817 ¥ A290348 ¥ 1133278 ¥ DRAT ¥ 68,157.070
For the six months ended December 31, 2011
At cost
Begiming Ending, Actmulaed Depregiation for ~ Netproperty and
balance Increase Decrease belance depreciaion the period equEpment
(i thousands of yen)
BIES. ... ¥ 2680174 ¥ - ¥ . ¥ 2680174 ¥ w7955 ¥ 27605 ¥ 2572218
Brildings andaccampanying facilities .. ........ 50,691 - - 50,691 13178 2973 32513
SHRCRTES. ..o+ eveevvveme v eeereeereessnnenans 3848 - - 3848 982 139 2866
Land....oooooiiiniiiiiiii e 2713620 - - 2713620 - . 2713620
Buildingsintrust ..................coeeeeen 24148023 10,800 1130808 23028013 1337424 212280 21,690,590
Buildings and accompanying faclites it .. 4357418 30,497 104,180 4283735 933,806 166,605 3349929
SIUCRIES IS, v v i 233,668 2500 32 236,536 31393 11011 185,142
Todls, firmiture apd fxtures mtrust. . ... ........ 34848 8545 378 PBA415 36512 7468 56443
Landintrust ..o, 36,018,054 - 4961414 31,056,639 - - 31,056,639
TOHEL .. e e e ¥O702%M348 ¥ 53144 ¥ 6196815 ¥ 64146678 ¥ 2486713 ¥ 42208 ¥ 61639964
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For the six months ended June 30, 2012

At cost
Begiming Ending Accurmniated Deprecigion for ~ Net property emd
balace Increase Decrease ‘balance depreciaiion the period equipment
{in thousands of yen)
BRHNES. ..o ee e e e e ¥ 2680174 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 2680174 ¥ 135561 ¥ 27605 ¥ 544613
Pruldings and accompanying fciities .. .. ... 50,691 . . 50,691 31,152 2073 20,539
SHUCHTES, ..o et eereee s eeieiiee e aeeeeanes 3848 - - 3848 L121 139 2726
Ead oo 2713620 - - 2713620 - - 2713620
Bulldings i ISt .. ..o B028015 2020 - 23,030,036 1,541,195 203,771 21488840
Buildings and accotrpanying facilities intrusr . .. 4283735 17,756 - 4301492 1091836 158029 3209656
STUAERSMEUSE ... .o BE336 1205 - B 6247 11,082 175265
Todks, fisniture and fixtures mtrust .. ... 93415 12945 - 106,361 45,035 8083 61305
Landintrast .....ooveeeeenes e 31,056,639 - - 31056639 - - 31,056,639
Total e ¥ 64146678 ¥ 3OR ¥ - ¥ 64180606 ¥ 2898398 ¥ 4685y 612R207
For the six months ended December 31, 2012
At cost
Begmmning, Ending Acournulated Depreciaion for ~ Net praperty and
balance Increase Decrease balance deprediation the period equipment
{in thousands of yen}
LY 26800 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 2680174 % 63,166 ¥ 27605 ¢ 2517007
56,691 - - 50,691 24,325 2973 26,566
3848 R - 3848 1261 139 2587
Lad e 2713620 - - zm3em . ; 2713620
Buildings mmst,, ., ...vvvvvvierierneenienens Z3,030:036 6634226 - 29,664,262 1782176 240,980 27,882,085
Buildings and accompanying facikties intrust. . .. 4,301,492 2307003 - 6,608496 L280,186 188350 5328309
SIUOUIES FUIUSE. .. < eeee coeceecsieeecneees BT L 56,801 - 294,542 73348 11372 220,69
Tools, furmiture and fixhwes immust .............. 106,361 17338 - 123,699 54235 9200 62443
Landinust ..o 31,056,639 3525888 - 36,582,527 - - 36,583,527
TOEL e e ¥ 64180606 ¥ 14541257 ¥ - ¥ TB7IBE ¥ 3379021 ¥ 480622 ¥ 73,342,842
For the six morths ended June 30, 2013
Af cost
Begirming Ending Acaurmlated Depreciation for ~ Netproperty and
balmce  Incresse Decrease belamce depreciation the period ecuipment
. {inthousands of yen)
k]
b= b3 ¥ 2680174 % - ¥ - ¥ 2680174 ¥ 872 % 27605 ¥ 2489407
Buildines and aceompanying fclities, ... ... 50,691 - . 50,691 26,789 2663 noe
SHUCRITS. ..o e e e er e e 3848 - - 3848 1397 136 2451
Land .o e 2713620 - - 2713520 - - 2713620
Brldingsintmst ... .vevee i 29,664,262 13632 - 29,677,895 2050616 278439 27617278
Buildings mdaccompanying faclitissintust ... 6608496 105410 N 6713907 1493122 212,935 5220784
204,342 17478 - 312,020 85,630 11,782 226389
123,609 18475 - 142175 64,333 10,077 71842
36,582,527 - - 36,582,527 - - 36,382.527
B ¥ TRTIEA ¥ 154597 ¥ - ¥ TEEBL ¥ 32662 ¥ 534640 ¥ 74954199
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For the six moviths ended December 31, 2013

Atcost
Begiming Ending Accamuilated Deprecition for  Netpropertyand
balance Increase Decrease balance depreciation the period equipment
{in thousands of yen)
BUldngs. .. eeev et e ¥ 2680174 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 260t ¥ 218377 ¥ 77605 ¥ 246L79%
Buildings and accompenying facilities. ... ... 50,691 - - 50,691 27985 1,195 2706
SHUOHIES. ...+ eee e eemeceeeeenn 3848 - - 3848 1518 120 2330
Land v e e 2713620 - - 2713620 - - 2713620
Bulldngsm st ..o 2,677,895 1,524 - 25762419 2339358 278,741 27423061
Buldings md acoompanying fucdlities Mtrst ... 6713907 49833 - 6,763,740 1690614 197492 5073126
SUTATES TR, ... 312,020 8883 - 320,904 97,258 11,627 23645
Tols, firniture and fxtores in st ... ... 142,175 1341 - 1555616 HI70 10637 80,646 |
Landinutrust ..o Eorn, 36,582,527 - - 6,58 57 - - 36,552,507
Tottl et e e ¥ BEME61 ¥ 156682 ¥ - E 03354 ¥ 4450083 ¥ 740 ¥ T45%3461
For the six months ended December 31, 2013
Atcost |
Beginming Ending Accurmidated Depreciation for ~ Netproperty and
balanee Increzse Deciease belance depreciation the period equipment
(inthousands of U S, dollars)
BUilings. ... ..oooeeeeiie i $ 25450 - % - % 25450 § 2073 $ %2 & 83T
481 - - 281 265 i 215
36 - - B “ 1 »
23,767 - - 23167 - - 25,767
Bulldigsintrust, . .....v v eren e 281814 802 - 282617 2234 2646 260,403
Buildings and accompartying facilities intmat ... 63,753 473 - 64,226 16,053 1875 48173
SHUCUTES MU, ... e 2962 8 - 3047 %23 10 2123
Tods, fimiture and fixtres intrust . ... 1350 27 - 1477 7l 10t 75
LAGIUSE - .o e eeeine s HTIT - - HIIB - - 347379
TOL e e § 0 MBY6 § 487§ - 8 7s04m 8 2%  § 5008 § 0827
For the six months ended Jure 30, 2011
Increases in the net book values are mainly due to capitalized construction costs and decreases in the net book values are mamly due to impairment
fosses and depreciation.
i For the six months ended December 31, 2011
Tncreases in the net book values are mainly due to capitalized construction costs and decreases in the net book values are mainly due to sale of New
Edobashi Building and deprecation.
For the six months ended Jure 30, 2012
Increases in the net book values are mainly due to capitalized construction costs and decreases in the net book values are mainly due to depreciation.

For the six moriths ended December 31, 2012
Increases in the net book values are mainly due to the acquisition of 24 properties (¥14,043,000 thousand) as shown below and decreases in the net book

values are mainly due to depreciation.
—
PropertyNo. Froperty name (mmofym)
A6 Neo Prominence 1660000
ATT Invoiee Shin-Kobe Residence 1,260000
ATS Cosmo Couwt Motorzachi 973,000
A® Revest Horjin 674,000
A%0 RevestMetsubara 657,00
A8l Sum Terrace Minanm kebuluro 625,000 |
AR AlbaNoritzke Shinmacki 608,000
AS3 Revest Meiski Minami 397,000
AR Revest Heizn 95,000
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Property No. Froperty name (m?ﬁ cc;n)
A8 Vendir Hazmacsu Ekirnze 81,000
A6 Salvo Sala 544.000
AB7 Excellente Kagurazaka 543,000
ASS L Court Edobori 525,000
ARD ‘Winntage Kobe Motomachi 512,000
ASC Queen's Cowt Fulazmi 456,000
A9l Corp Higashinotoin 246,000
AR Belair Oirrachi 412,000
A% Siete Minarmi- Tsukaguchi 374,000
AN Prime Life Sannormiya Isogarm Koen 373,000
A3 HERMITAGE NANBA WEST 355000
A%6 Century Park Shinkewa 1-bankean 335,000
AST West Avenue 331,000
AR Little River Honrrachibashi 310,000
A% Prirne Lifs Mikage 207000

Total 14,043,000
For the six moriths ended June 30, 2013

Increases in the net book values are mainty due to capitalized construction costs and decreases in the net book vahues are mainly due to depreciation.

For the six morths ended December 31, 2013
Increases in the net book values are mainly due to capitalized construction costs and decreases i the net book values are mainly due to depreciation.

7. Fair Value of Investment and Rental Properties
The following tables show the net book value and the fair value of the investment and rental properties in the aggregate for the six months ended June 30,
2011, December 31,2011, e 30, 2012, Decemnber 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013.

Residential
As of/ Forthe six months ended
Jume 30, Dexernber 3i, Jime 30, Dexember 31, June:36, December 31, December 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands of
{inthousands of ven) 1S, dolbrsy
Net book vahe
alance at the beginning of period., ... ¥ 43415063 ¥ 43172655 ¥ 42041963 ¥ 4270147r ¥ 56845746 ¥ 56,520,161 ] 336,702
Net inerease (decrease) duing period ... ... .. (242.408) (230,690 (240,490} 14,144,274 {325,585) (327357) (3,108)
Belanceat the end ofpedod. ................ 43,172,655 42,541,963 42,701,472 56,845,746 36,520,161 56,192,804 533,594
Farvalli, .. ..ovoe oo ¥ 40858000 ¥ 40905000 ¥ 41825000 ¥ 56237000 ¥ S6995000 ¥ ST2L00 5 550,004
Offce
As of/ For the six months ended
Junz30, Decermber 31, Jume 30, Decermber 31, June 30, December 31, December 31,
011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands of
inhousands of yew) US, ddlla)
Net book vahie
Balance &t the beginning of perdod., . ......... ¥ 16099720 ¥ 14,820260 ¥ ORE26I70 ¥ R567280 ¥ &5573R2 ¥ BS67T49 3 81,357
Net increase {deoresse) duming peried.. ... (1,279.460) (6,194,090 (58,389) {9,398) 10,367 17,389 169
Balanceattheendofpariod ................ 14,820,260 8626,170 £567.280 §557382 8567749 8585639 81527
Farvale. . ..o ¥O1370000 ¥ 7335000 ¥ 7512000 ¥ 257000 ¥ 7151000 ¥ 7ITSA00 5% 63,132
Retai]faci[ftias‘
As of/ For the six morths ended
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June 30, Decermber 31, Fme 36, Decerber 31, Jume30, Decemiber 31, Decemiber 31,
2011 2011 P 201 2013 2013 2013
{ivthousands ofyer) ‘%’?;ﬁ"j;*;“ﬂg"f
Netbook value
Balance gt the beginning of peciod.. ... .. . ¥ 5556561 ¥ 5535319 ¥ 5401010 ¥ 5ad7457 ¥ 507608 ¥ 5350806 § 50,829
Net increese {decresse) dring pericd.. .., .. (23,241) {43,406) (49,460) (4824 g (34,149) (324)
Balance at the end of pediod. . ... oooven 5535319 5491912 5442452 5397628 5352806 3318657 30,504
Fairvali. ..........oeeeeeieee e ¥ 530000 ¥ 5160000 ¥ 3170000 ¥ 35210000 ¥ 5360000 ¥ 5420006 § 51,467
Parking lots
As of/ For the six months ended
June 30, Decernber 31, Fane36, Decerrber 31, Fune 30, Decamiber 31, Decernber 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 213
p—— i ¥
Net book value
Balsnece at the beginning of period. . .. .. ... ¥ (00919 ¥ 100905 ¥ j008%2 ¥ 100878 ¥ 10085 ¥ 10081 S 957
Net increase (decrease) dwing peried. . . .. . (13) (13 (13 13 3 (13 )
Bidmceattheend ofperiod. ................ 100.505 100,892 100,878 100,365 100,851 100,238 957
FAEVAE. oo ¥ 9200 ¥ 91200 ¥ 91300 ¥ 91300 ¥ 92300 ¥ 0280 S 881
Senior Living
As of/ For the six meorghs ended
June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31, Jume 30, Toecember 31, Degember 31,
201t 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 05
(R thousands of yem) ("‘I‘Jﬁé‘_";‘ﬁ;f
Net book vakue
Baanceatfebeginingofpaiod........... ¥ 4836833 ¥ 4537030 ¥ 4400006 ¥ 4470123 ¥ 4441219 ¥ 4412629 § 41,901
Net increase { decreass) diming period. ... ... (28.903) (28.903) (28.903) (28903) (28,590) 27,106} 257}
Balanceat heend of period. ................ 4527930 4499026 4470123 4441219 4412629 4385522 41643
FaArvalIe. .....covveeeeeineceeesiriniaeeens ¥ 4709000 ¥ 4708000 ¥ 4708000 ¥ 4708000 ¥ 4751000 ¥ 4821000 § 45,77
Notes:

Fair value has been determined based on the appraisals or research provided by independent real estate appraisers.
For rental revenues and expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, hme 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, une 30, 2613
and December 31, 2013, please referto “Note 12: Rent Revenue — Real Estate and Expenses Related to Property Rental Business™

& Collateral
The following table shows the assets pledged as collateral 10 secure short-term loans payable, long+4erm loans payable and long-term loans payable in
trust.
Asof’
Tune30, December 31, Jme30, Decerrber 31, June 30, Decerrer 31, Decernber 31,
2011 2011 2012 212 pii)k] 003 2013
oo i

Cosh and bank Geposits. .........oeovenen ¥o1z76097 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 167136 8 1587
Cash and bank deposits intust 2203864 2056083 2,130,305 2,786,480 2650331 2729502 25972
Bulldings. ... eee e 2599824 2572218 2544613 2517007 2489402 2461,79% 3376
Buildings and accompanying facilities. ... 35487 2513 29539 26,566 pxL-i) 2,706 25
SHUCHIES. ..o eee e 2914 2866 27% 2587 2451 2330 2
LA e e 26125806 2713620 2713620 2713620 2713620 2713620 25,767
Buldngs I fUst oo 29T A55 21,690,590 21488840 27382085 21611218 27423061 260,403
Buildings and accampanying facilities in tust .. 33568098 3349929 3209656 5378309 5220784 5073126 /I
SHUCIBS UL ..., 193,267 185,142 175,265 220693 2263%9 23646 2213
Tods, firniuwe and fxtmes intrust ............. 55,256 56,443 61,305 69443 TI842 80,646 %5
Landintust e 36018054 31,056,639 31,056,639 35,582,527 36582527 36,582,527 347379
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Total ... ¥ 7153127 ¥ 63716048 ¥ 63412312 ¥ RI293B 0¥ 77644531 ¥ 7748050 0§ 735,737

The following table shows the loans payable secured by collateral.

Agof
June 30, December 31, Jume 30, December 31, Jume 30, Decermber 31, Decernber31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
) inthowsands of
(in trousands of yen) (BEJ S, dollars)
Short-term loans payable _..................... ¥ 25796425 % - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - $ -
Curent pextion of Tong-enm loans payable. . ... 14,800,000 262,000 262000 262,000 262000 203,520 1932
Longerm loans payable. ... - 20472300 20341500 22,760,500 22629,500 20,146,480 191,306
Current portian of long-tenm loans peyable n trust. - - - - - 105,833 1,004
Lemgrizmm loans payebledntrust . ............ - 11.600,000 11,000,000 20,960,500 20,960,000 20,854,166 198,026
TOtL -t SRR ¥ 42506425 ¥ 317350 ¥ 3LE03500 ¥ 43982500 ¥ 43851500 ¥ 41310000 8 392270
9. Loans Payable
The following tables show the details of loans payable for the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, Jime 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, |
Jume 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013. |
|
For the six months ended Jure 30, 2011
Beginning, Ending Average
Increase Decrease
Classification Name of Jender ‘balancs balance Interest rate Maturity date Useof proceeds Remarks
(in thousands of yen) e M
Short4emm The Chuo Mitss Trust and 1680 | July29,2051 Repaymentoficans | Seamedand
5071443 - 62,127 5009316
Toans payable Benking Company, Limited payable nguaranteed
Acora Bank, 14, 2817468 - 515 2782953
Resona Baok, Limited, 1,502650 - 18408 1484242
Mitsutishi UFT Trust and
939,156 - 11,503 527,651
Benking Corporation
The Musashing Baik, Lz 939 156 - 11,505 27,651
Aczora Bank, Lad. 5247024 - 90,591 3,756,433 2680 | July29,2011 Acquisition of Secured and
Tekio Marine & Nichido properties and trust unguzzmanteed
1,053,387 — 16,320 LO37.066
Fire Insurance Co, Lid, beneficiary interest in
Resona Bank, Limited. 1,053387 - 16,320 1,037,066 properties trust
THENISHI-NIFPON
o 1053387 - 16,320 1037.066
CITYBANK, LTD.
The Musashino Bark, [td 1,042,162 - 16,146 1026015
Shinsei Bank, Lirited 694774 - 10,764 684,010
The Chio Mitsui Trust and
) n 486,341 - 7535 478,806
Benking Company, Liited
Aczora Bank, [td 3,665,145 s 57,000 3608145
Total short-term loans
26,165,485 - 369060 | 25796425 - - - -
payable
Curent portion | Shinsei Trust & Banking Acpisition of Secured and
of longterm | Co,ltd properties and frust unguaraneed
16,800,000 - — | 16800000 3650 | Ridy29,2011
Ioms payable beneficiary mterest in
properties trust
“Total current portion of
16.800:000 - — | 15800000 - - - -
long:-term loans payakie
Totzl loans payabie 42,965,486 - 369060 | 42396425 — - - -
For the six movahs ended December 31, 2011
Classtfication Name offender Baginning, Increase Decrease Ending | Average I Maturity date Use of proceeds Rernarks
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balece balance interest rate
(inthousands of yen) ) (1)
Short-eom The Chuo Mitsud Trust and
5009316 - 5009316 -
loems payable Banidng Corrpeny, Lirmited
Aczora Bark, Lid 2782953 - 2782953 e
Resona Bank, Limited 1484242 - 1484242 — - - — —
Mitsubisti UFJ Trust and
907,651 - 927,651 -
Banking Corperation
The Musashino Bank, Ltd 07,651 - 927,651 —
Anzora Banle, Ltd 5756433 - 35,756433 -
Tokio Manng & Nichido
1037066 - 1037066 -
Fire Insurance Co,, Ltd.
Resona Bank, Limited. 1,037,066 — 1,037066 -
THE NISHI-NIPPON
1037066 - 1,037,066 -
CITY BANK, LID. - - - —
TheMusashino Bark, Lid. 1026015 - 1026015 -
Shinsei Bank, Lirmited 684,010 - 684,010 -
The Chuo Mitsud Trust and
473806 - 478,306 -
Rarking G Limited
Aozora Bank, Ltd 3,608,145 - 3608145 -
Totel shert-temm loans
25,796,425 — 25,796,425 — — — — -
payable
Longtem Shinsei Trust & Banking
16,800,000 - 16,800,000 - - - - —
loms payable | Co.,lul
(3 Shinsei Bank, Lirnited (2) - 3,500,000 12995 3487004 2439 | July 29,2014 Repayment of loans | Secured  and
Citibaric Japan L1d(2) - 3,600,000 613,360 2986633 2439 | Rly29 2014 payable unguaranteed
The Cluo Mitai Trust and
Banldng Compary; Limnited - 2,000,000 7423 1962574 2439 | Jly29,2014
@
The Bank of New Yok Repayment ofloans
Mellon: Trust (Japen), Ltd, pavable and
i} aoquisition of
- L504,000 - 1,500,000 2439 | Juy292014
Properties and trust
beneficary st m
operties trust
g Resona Bank, Limited(2) - 1,000,000 3712 956,287 2439 | July29 2014 Repayment of loans
Long4emm Shinsei Trust & Banking, payable
- 7300,000 200,000 7,100,000 8500 | January 30,2013
loans payable Co, Lud,
Long-term Shinse: Trust & Banking
loms payable | Co, Lud(3) - 2500000 228,000 2572000 9500 | Jermary 30,2015
3
Tatal long-term loans
16,805,000 21,800,000 17,865,500 20,734,500 - - - -
payatle
Long-term Miziho Trust & Banking Repayment ofloans Secured and
- 3,730,000 - 3,750,000 2500 | Jemary 25,2017
loans payable | Co., Lid{4} payable unguaranteed
m trust Mizuho Trust & Banking
- 3620000 - 3,620060 2500 | Jermary 25,2018
Co., Lid (4
Mizho Trust & Banking
- 3,630,000 - 3630000 2500 | Jarmary 25,2019
Co, Lud {4
Total long-term loans
- 11,000,000 - 11,000,000 - - - -
payable in trust
“Tetal loans payable 42596425 | 32800000 | 43661925 | 31734500 - - - -
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For the six months ended June 30, 2012
Beginning Ending Average
Increase Decrease
Classificaion Name of lender balance balance: interest Tate Matiity date Usz of proceeds Remarks
(in thousands ofyen) o) )
Longterm Shinsei Bark, Liraited (2) 3487004 - 5863 3,463,141 2436 | July29 2014 Repayment of loans Secured and
loms payable | Citibark Japan Ltd.(2) 2586633 - 20454 2966179 2436 | July29,2014 payible unguaranteed
&) Sumitomo Mitsd Trost
L 1992574 - 13,636 1978937 2436 | July29 2014
Bank, Lirnited ()
The: Bemk of New Yok Repeyment of loans
Mellon Trust (Japan), Lrd payable and
@ acepsition of
1,500,000 - 10227 1,489,772 2436 | huly29, 2014
properties and trust
beneficiary interest in
- properties tnust
Resona Bark, Limited (2} 996,287 - 6818 9B9468 2436 | July29.2014 Repayment of loans
Longterm Shinsei Trust & Banking payebie
7,100000 - - 1,100,000 8500 | Jamewy 30,2015
Toans payable Co, L.
Longterm Shinsei Trust & Banking
loans payable | Co,lsd(3) 2572000 - 36,000 26146000 9500 | Jamary 30,2015
3
Total long-term loans
20,734,500 - 131,000 20,603,500 - - - -
payzble
Long-term Mizzho Trust & Banking Repayment ofloans Secured and
3,750000 - — 3,750,000 2500 | Jammary 25,2017
loans payable | Co.,Lxd(4) payable unguaranteed
intrust Mizzho Trust & Banking
3620000 - - 3,620,000 2300 | Jaruay 25,2018
Co. 1 (9
Minsho Trus & Banking
3530000 - - 3,630000 2500 | Jamary25, 2019
Co., Iul(®
Total iong-term loans
11,000,000 - - 11,000,000 - — — -
payable in trust
Total loans payable 31,734,500 - 13L,000 31,603,500 - - - -
For the six months ended December 31, 2012
Begiming Ending Average
Increase Decrease
Classification “Namme of fender balance balance interest rate Matuity dats Usz of procesds Remarks
g (inthousands of yen) %} ()
Long-term Shinsei Bank, Limmited 3463141 - 3463141 - - -
loms payable | Ciibank JapanLid 2966,179 - 2566,179 - - -
&) SumnitomoMitsi Trst
- 1978537 - Lo78537 - - -
Bank, Lirnited -
The Bak of New York
1489772 - 1489772 - - - -
Melon Trust (Japan), Ltd
Resona Bank, Limited 989,468 - 989,468 — - - -
Medife Alico Life Insurance Repayment of loans Seamred and
- 4,500,000 12,593 4487406 2266 | hly312014
KK.(2) payable and umguaranteed
The Barnk of New Yotk acquisition oftust
Mellony Trust (Japas), Ltd. - 3,000,000 8395 2991604 2266 | July31,2014 beneficiary interest in
@ properties trust
Citibarik Japan Ltd (2} - 2950000 8255 2941744 2266 | July3L2014
Shinsei Bank, Limited (2) - 2950,000 82535 2941744 2266 | hly31,2014
Shinsei Trust & Banking 8500 | Jaymezy 30,2015 Repayment ofloans
7,100,000 - - 7,100,000
Co, Lad. payable
Shinsei Trust & Banking 2616000 - 56,000 2560080 93500 | Jarmary 30, 2015
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Co, Ltd(3)
Total long-erm loans
20,603,500 13,400,000 10981600 | 022500 — — — -
payable
Long4erm Miziho Trus: & Banking Repaymoent of loans | Securedand
3,730,060 - - 3,730,000 2500 | Jamary 25,2017
loans payable | Co,td(4) payakle wiguaranteed
in st Mizuho Trost & Banking
3620000 - - 3,620,000 2500 | Jamery 25,2018
Co., Lud{4)
Mizuho Trast & Banking
3430000 - - 3630000 2300 | Janwary 35,2019
Co, Lici{4)
Mitsubishi UFJ Thst and Agaquisition of Tust
- 2,700,000 - 2,700,000 1900 | March31,2018
Banking Corpordtion (6) beneficiary imerest in
Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and properties trust
. R = 2,860,000 - 2860400 1900 | March31,2019
Banking Corporation {&)
Mtsubishi UFJ Trust and
. — 1,830,000 - 1,830,000 1500 | March31, 2020
Banking Comoration {6)
Mitsobishi UFJ Trast and
. . - 2570000 s 250,000 1900 | March31,2019
Banking Corporation (6)
Total long-term loans
1L,000,000 9,960,000 - 20,960,000 - - - -
payablein trast
Totel loans payable 31,603,500 23,360,000 10,983,000 43982500 - - - -
For the six moriths ended June 30, 2013
Begjrming Ending Average
Tncresse Decrease
Classification Name of lender balance balance interest rare Maturity dete Use of proceeds Remarks
(inthousands of yen) o) 1
Long-term Metifes Alico Liff Insurance Repayment of loans Secured and
4487406 - 25,186 4462220 2269 | July3].2014
foms payable | KK{2) payable and imguaranteed
&) The Bark of New York aceuAsition of trust
Iiellen Trost (Yapan), Lid 2591604 - 16,791 2974813 2269 | Rdy31,2014 beneficiary inerest in
fe)] propertties trust
Citibarik Japan Ltd (2) 2541744 - 16311 2925233 2269 | Ray3l, 2014
Shinsei Bank, Limited (2) 2541744 - 16,511 28925233 2269 | Rady31,2014
Shinsei Trust & Banking. Repaymen: of loans
7100000 - - 7,100,000 B300 | Jarmary 30,2015
Co, Lid. payable
Shinsei Trost & Banldng
2,560,006 - 36,000 2,504,000 9500 | Jermary 30, 2005
- Co, Lul(3)
Total long-termloems
B,022.500 - 131,000 22,891,500 - - - -
payable
Long-4erm Mizuho Trust & Banking Repayment of loans | Secured and
3,730,000 - - 3,756,000 2500 | Jaowary 25,2007
lomns pmysble | Co, Lid($) payable unguarmteed
st Mizuho Trust & Banking,
3620000 - - 3620000 2300 | Jamary 25 2018
Co. L4
Mizcho Trust & Banking
3,630,000 - — 3630000 2300 | Jamary 25,2019
Co, Lad(4)
Mitsubishi UFJ Trust emd Acquisifion oftrst
2700000 - - 2,700,000 1900 | March 31,2018
Banking Corporation () beneficiary interest in
Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and propetties trast
. . 2,860,000 - - 2,860,000 1900 | Mawch31, 2019
Banking Corporation (6)
Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and
) ) 1,830,000 - - 1,830,000 1900 | March 31,2020
Banking Cotporation (6)
Dfitsubisht UFJ Trast and
) ) 2570000 - - 2370000 1500 | March 31,2015
Benking Corporation (6}
Tetal longrterm loans 20,960,00G - et 20,960,000 - — — s
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payable in trust

Tetel loans payable 43,982,500 - 131,000 43,851,500 - - = -

For the six morths ended December 31, 2013

Increass: Dozeme Increase Cooresse ety
Clsification Nameoflender oo balmce e balmoe | irersirie Uszofproceeds Remera
dater
(i housands of ven) (i thousands of TS, doilars) M
Longterm Metifie Alioo Life Fnsurance - Repaymentof Secured and
4462220 - 44620 - a3 - @3 - 252
lomns KK (8) loamspayable and | unguamdeed
payatle(5) | TheBakofNewYork scqistion of
2074813 - 2974813 - 28248 - 28248 - 2252 .
Mellon Tt (Jepany Lid. (8) propertias and st
Citlank Japan Lid.(8) privck] - 2925233 - pairrl - T - 2252 beneficiary mterest
ShiEEiBkaimirad(S)m 2925233 — | a9z - =z - | zm - 2% Inpropertiestrust
Shinsei Frust& Banking Co,, Repaynientof
7,100,000 - F1H.000 - 7419 - 67419 - 8500
Ix(8) Joans payable
Shinsal Tust& Banking Co.,
2504000 - 2504000 - B - B - 9500
Lil(8)
Sumitome Mitsu Banking Degemiber Repaymentof
- 5500,000 - 5,500,000 - 2,726 - 206 1680
Cotportion {7) 1,016 Joans payatie
“The Bank of December
TookyoIMitsubichi UET - 5,500,000 - 5500,000 - 52226 - 5,226 L68D | 20,2016
Lid(7
Shinsal Bank, Limited (7) Decernibxr
- 4000.000 - 4000000 - 37983 - 37983 1680
016
Crbenk Japan Lid (7 December
- 2000000 - 2000000 bl 18991 hd 18551 1480
20,2016
Shinsal Trust & BankingCo., Decamber
- 2000000 - 2000000 hd 18991 - 18991 1680
LD 0016
AczoraBenk Lel(7) Determiber
- 1350000 - 1,350,000 - 12,819 - 12819 L4680
20,2016
Toriad longferm Joens paysble 2,891,500 20350000 2891500 2035000 27372 193236 A757 163,239 - - - -
Longtemm | Mimpho Trust & Banking Co, Jamzry 25 | Repaymentof Secured and
3750,000 - - 3750,000 35609 - - 35,609 2500
Toans Lid{4) 017 Toang payable imguarantaad
pavadle ® | Mizuho Tt & Ranking Co., Jawery 235
3620000 - - 3620000 437 - - 3437 2500
ws(d) L (8 8
F-
Mizhe Trust & Banking Co., Janary 25,
3630000 - - 3630000 34469 - - 469 2500
() 19
Misubishi UFT Thastand Mach 3, | Acqistionof
2,700,000 - - 2700,000 25638 - - 25,638 1900
Banking Comporation () 2018 properties md trust
Mitsubishi UFJ Trustand Mach 31, | beneficary miewest
Z360,000 - - 2860000 22157 - - 20157 1500 . .
Banking Comomtion (5) W19 n profreries rust
fitsubighn UF] Trustaned March 31,
1,830,000 - - 1830:000 173717 - - 17377 1500
Banking Comeoraton (5) roeid]
Mitsubishi UF] Trustand March 31,
257,000 - — | 25m000 1 24404 - = | a4 1900
Hanking Corporation (6 119
Total bngdem loans payable - - - -
20,960,000 - - 20,960,000 199031 - - 199031
ntrust
Totad loans payable 43,851,500 20350000 2891500 41310000 416408 193,239 207372 392270 - - - -
Notes:

(1) The average interest rate indicates a weighted average mterest rate for each six month period, rounded to the third decimal places.
(2) A portion of the principal in the amount of ¥37 million is repaid on each interest payment date (every 3 months) and the remaining balance is to be
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repaid on the due date.

(3) Aportion of the principal in the amount of 28 million is repaid on each interest payment date (every 3 months) and the remaining batance is to be
repaid on the due date.

(4) The Company will start to pay principal on every interest due date (every 3 months) afler 3 years from the borrowing date. Each repaid amounts
are calcilated on the assurnption that the remaining balance is repaid in equal installments over 20 years (80 payments in total). The balance afler
the above payments will be paid filly on the principal manurity date. Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd. ( “Mizuho Trust”™), the trustee of real estate
held in trust for which the Company is the beneficiary, borrows money from Prudential Mortgage Asset Holdings 1 Japan Investrment Business
Limited Parmership, a part of the Prudential Financial, Inc. as of July 29, 2011. The Company will receive the borrowed finds (afier deducting
reserves and other proceeds) from Mizubo Trust as payment of the trost principal for the real estate in trust on the same day.

(5) Long-term loans payable include current portion.

(6) The Company will pay the amount of ¥2,700 million on the principal maturity date. As for the amounts of ¥2,860 million and ¥1,830 million, the
Company will start to pay principal on every interest due date (every 3 months) after 5 years from the borrowing date. Each repaid amounts are
caleulated on the assumpiion that the remaining balance is repaid in equal installments over 30 years (120 payments in total). The balance after the
above payments will be paid fully on the principal maturity date. As for the amount of ¥2,570 million, the Company will start to pay principal on
every interests due date (every 3 months) after 3 years from the borrowing date. Each repaid amounts are caleulated on the assumption that the
remaining balance is repaid in equal mstallments over 27 years (108 payments in total). The balance after the above payments will be repaid filly
on the principal mahwity date. Mitsubishi UFT Trust and Banking Corporation (“Mitsubishi UFJ Trust’™), the frustee of real estate held in ttust for
which the Company is the beneficiary, borrows money from Prudential Mortgage Asset Holdings 1 Japan Investment Business Limited
Partnership, a part of the Prudential Financial, Inc. as of September 28, 2012. The Company will receive the borrowed fimds (affer deducting
reserves and other proceeds) from Mitsubishi UFJ Trust as payment of the trust principal for the real estate in trust on the same day:

(7)  Aportion of the principal in the amount of ¥16 million is repaid on each interest payment date (every month) and the remaining balance is to be
repaid on the due date.

(8) The principal was repaid in full on December 20, 2013.

(9 Long-term loans payable in trust include current portion.

Repayment schedule of long-term loans payable (except for the current portion) for the next five years affer each balance sheet date are as follows:

Asof
Jame 30, Deoember 31, June 30, December 3%, Jime 30, Decernber 31, December 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
{mthousands of
{in thousands ofyen) S, dollars)
TR oo n ¥ — ¥ 262000 ¥ 262000 ¥ 13324500 ¥ 62500 ¥ 20350 $ 1932
2BYEIS. ..o - 10,774,500 20,079,500 9436000 - 18,942,960 189373
BAYERIS ..o eereaeaia e - 9436000 - - - - -
A S YRS, vveriavrrevr s e s - - - - - - bt
Repayment schedufe of long-term loans payable in trust (exocept for the current portion) for the next five years after cach balence sheet date are as
follows:
Asof
June 30, December 31, June30, Decernber 31, Jume 30, Decernber 31, December 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 PIK] 208 2013
(inthousands of
(in thousands of yen) US. dollars)

12 vears ¥ - ¥ - % — ¥ 10583 ¥ 30981 ¥ 450442 $ 4277
BBVREE. ..o - 105,833 320981 450442 401,866 516273 4902
BAYORS. . - 432275 436972 516273 3361986 3819427 36,268
ASTEIS. ..oveer it ienrransneae e - 447466 3787346 3819427 6238387 6196028 58836

10. Net Assets

The Company issues only non-par value units in accordance with the Investment Trust Act, and the entite amount of the issue price of new investment
units is aflocated to unitholders’ capital within net assets. The Company 1s required to maintain net assets of at least ¥50,000 thounsand (US$ 474
thousand) as required by Article 674 of the Investment Trust Act.

The number of investment units authorized were 10,000,000 units as of fune 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, June 30,
2013 and December 31, 2013.
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The number of investment units issued and outstanding were 636,695 units, 1,348,292 umits, 1,348,292 units, 1,348,292 units, 1,348,292 units and
1,573,179 units as of June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, fune 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, hime 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

11. Appropriation of Retained Earnings
In accordance with the distribution policy in Asticle 17, Paragraph 1, of the Company’s articles of incorporation which stipulates making distributions in
excess of 90% of distributable profit as defined in Asticle 67-15, Paragraph 1 of'the Special Taxation Measures Act of Japan for the fiscal period.

The following table shows the appropriation of retained earnings for the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012, December
31,2012, June 30, 2013 and Decernber 31, 2013.

Forthe six months ended
June 30, Decerrber 31, June30, Decerrber 31, June 3G, Decemiber 31, Decernber 31,
2011 2011 2012 212 2013 2013 2013
; (inthousands of
(in thousands of yeu) US, dollars)
Unappropriated retained eamimngs. : ....... ¥ 317234 % 568830 ¥ 27346 ¥ 271,868 ¥ 44919 ¥ 446003 3 4235
Cash distrution declared. ................ (127339 (269558) (269,658) (157,750) (355949) (372,843) (3.540)
Retained eamings camied forward. . ... ¥ 3044985 ¥ 299,171 ¥ 157688 ¥ 114,118 ¥ 93247 ¥ 73159 s 604

A dividend in respect of the six months ended December 31, 2013 of 3237 (USS$2) per investment unit, amounting to a total dividend of ¥372 843
thousand (UUS$3,540 thousand) was proposed and approved at the Board of Directors meeting on March 5, 2014. These financial statements do not
reflect this dividend payable.

Cash distributions per investment unit were ¥200, ¥200, ¥200, ¥117, ¥264 and ¥237 (US32) for the six months ended June 30, 2011, Decamber 31, 2011,
June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

12. Rent Revenue — Real Estate and Expenses Related to Property Rental Business

Rent reverue — real estate and expenses related to property rental business for the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012,
December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013 consist of the following:

For the six months ended
June 30, December 31, June 30, Decernther 31, Fune 30, December 31, Decerber 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
(in fronsands of yen) (u{rtl;uwdsi it ;Jf
Rental revenue - real estate:
Rental reversue and common area charpes. .. ... ¥ 2073106 ¥ 2033712 ¥ 1996336 ¥ 2300764 ¥ 2537676 ¥ 2542588 § 24,143
e 204,268 168736 180,502 175,663 222 500 197,861 1378
Total rental revenus—real egtate. ... ... ¥ 2277374 ¥ 2202448 ¥ BI7EB39 y  2ATEAR0 y  oqqngpp y 2TA0AD 4 600
Expenses related to property rereal business:
. Facility menagement foes. 388633 ¥ 395669 ¥ 359308 ¥ 403390 ¥ 441633 ¥ 55966 4139
relaedtaes. . ............. en 161,568 150,501 146,563 141455 162456 175993 1671
INSUAICS EXDENISE . ... ee 5992 4345 4118 4677 5,160 5,085 48
Oher .o 167,165 165,093 102,601 126,526 2512 116,754 L10g
Depredi@lion. ... .. .ocvevene e iee e 428247 422 084 411,685 480,622 543,640 327420 5008
Totslexpemsestelaedtoproperty remal business. . ¥ LISL606 ¥ LI379%4 ¥ 1024277 ¥ 1156672 ¥ 1295403 ¥ 126,21 § 11,976
Operating income fom property leasing activities. ¥ L125,768 ¥ 1064454 X 1152562 ¥ 1319757 ¥ 1464753 ¥ 1479227 § 14046

13. Income Taxes

The Company is subject to corporate income taxes in Japan The Company may deduct from its taxable income the amounts distributed to its
unitholders, provided the requirements are met under the Special Taxation Measures Act of Japar. Under this aet, the Company must meet a number of
tax requirements, including a requiremert to distribute in excess of %% of distributable profit for the fiscal petiod in order to be able to deduct such
amounts, Ifthe Company does not satisfy all of the requirements, the entire taxable income of the Compary will be subject to regular corporate ineome
taxes in Japan.

The Company has a policy of making distributions in excess of 90% of its distributable profit for the fiscal period 1o quadify for conditions set forth in the
Special Taxation Measures Act of Japan to achieve a deduction of distributions for income tax purpose and it distributes approximately 100%% of
distribugable profit. Hence, the Company has treated the distributions as a tax allowable deduction as defined in the Special Taxation Measures Act of
Japan.

(a) Reconciliations of the Company's effective taxrates and statutory tax rates are as follows:
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Farthe sxmonths ended
Tme 30, Decerriber 31, Tume 30, Decernber 31,
2012 Wiz 083 2013
(Rate)
SN A TS ... oo 3933 % 3659 % %59 % 3659 %
Deductible cash distibutions. . ..................... (2006) 1740 {3140) —
Tneresse (decrease) i valuation allowamce. . ... (1927 (1922 {5.19) (36.59)
OBE .o oee 048 063 018 017
EBCIVE BTEES. . ..vevevsreririiiiiee e 048 % 053 % 018 % 017 %

Reconciliations of the Company’s efective tax rates and statutory tax rates for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2011 are not
presented because the Company posted a loss before income taxes.

& Deferred tax assets cansist of the following:

Asof
June 30, Decetnber 31, June 30, December 31, June 30, Degernber 31, December 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 013 2013
(inhousands of yer) ("'Ejﬂé‘_";ﬂ?'mfh)"f

¥ 9 ¥ 21 ¥ 544 ¥ 564 % B0 ¥ 590 5 5

166 166 - - - - -

2573 27 211 1 211 211 2

- 122 304 91 559 M1 8

— £696 6454 6454 6454 = -

Tl e 2831 7934 7515 7522 7815 1743 16
Non-aurrent:

Buildings and other (mezges) ............... 1,584,151 1317594 1227581 1208736 1194346 1,177288 11,179

Land{menger).........ooeinieniinnnes 3471005 2547099 2547099 2547099 2547095 2547099 24,186

Buildings i trust (rpaimment loss). . ... 4,337 - - - - - -

Landin trust (fmpairmentloss) .. .. .. ... . 397215 - - - - — -~

Long-term aocnied expenses. ... ... - 520,716 517,072 513,845 510618 - -

) Net loss carried forward ............... 6492677 7023707 7.023,707 7023707 7023,707 7401300 70,281

2ubeotal ............................... 12,035,387 11,409,117 11315460 11,293,388 11,275,771 11,125,688 105,647

Valuation dllowance... ............... 12,042 218 11,417,051 11,322,975 11,300,510 11,283 586 11,127431 105,662

L e — — — - - -

Netdeforedtac asets.................. ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ — ¥ - 5 -

14. Profit from loan-related costs adjustment

With respect to Shinsei Trust Loan A and Shinsei Trust Loan B, the Company was obligated to pay exit fees on the maturity date and originally recorded
the exit fees as accrued expenses in the tota] amount of ¥1,337,460 thousand. However, the Comparyy repaid fully before the maturity date and recorded
areversal of the accrued expenses for the six months ended December 31, 2013.

15. Gain on forgiveness of debts
On July 27, 2011, the Company and Shinsei Trust & Banking Co., Lid (the lender) agreed that the lendsr would refease the Company from the current
portion of long-term loans payable based on a change in the loan agreement.

The Company recorded gain on forgiveness of debts in the total amount of ¥1,000,197 thousand 975,000 thousand on July 29, 2011 and ¥25,197
thousand on October 21, 2011) for the six months ended December 31, 2011.

16. Breakdown of Loss on Sales of Properties
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Forthe dx months ended
December 31,2011 -
(inthousards of yen)
New Edobeashi tuilding

Income due to sdles of properties. ... ¥ 5,163000
Cost ofpropertiessald .. ... 6128163
Other sales-related qosts. 49,350
Loss onsales of propenties. ... ... ¥ 1512718

17. Loss on Disaster
The repair costs for properties damaged by the Great East Japan Earthqualce have been recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and December

31,2011
18. Impairment Loss
The Company recognized impairment loss as follows for the six months ended June 30, 2011.
[mpaiment foss
Property Type Location {irz thousands of yen)
New Edobasht Building, Buildings in trust
(office) Land in trust etc Chuo-or Tokyo 149817

An assessment for impainment is carried out on groups of assets. The Comparny ptanned to sell the asset group related to New Edobashi Building. It was
determined that the recoverable value was less than the carrying amount, and the Company recognized the impairment loss for the six months ended
June 30, 2011.

The impairment loss consist of ¥221,301 thousand related to buildings in trust, ¥18,494 thousand refated to buildings and accompanying facilities in trust,
¥3 thousand related to structures in trust, ¥62 thousand related to tools, firmiture and fixtures in trust and 31,009,954 thousand related to land in trust.

Recoverable value has been determined based on appraisals or research provided by independent real estate appraisers.

19. Leases

(a) Leaserental revenues
The future minimum rental revenues pursuant to existing rental contracts as of June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012,
June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013 scheduled to be received are summarized as follows:

Asof
s 30, Decermber 31, ame30, Deosbar 31, e 0, Decerrber 31, Decezrber 31,
2011 2011 01 2012 2013 2013 2013
{infhousands of yer) (“[‘Jﬂg‘_"ﬁ“g;f
Due withinomeyear. ... ¥ 656 ¥ 674516 ¥ 674516 ¥ 6M4516 ¥ 674516 ¥ 6699 § &351
DHsover cneyese, ... 8607623 8270367 7933,109 7595851 7258593 6914539 65,662
- Toted oo ¥ 9om141 ¥ BO4ISS3 ¥ BEOTEZS ¥ 8770367 ¥ 7933109 ¥ 7584862 § 704

(b) Leaserental expenses
The future minimum rental expenses pursuant 10 existing rental contracts as of June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012,
June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013 scheduled to be paid are summarized as follows:

Asof
June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31, Jme 30, December 31, December 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
e e
¥ 12249 ¥ 112248 ¥ 112248 ¥ 12249 ¥ 112249 % m224s 8 1065
Dueoveronevear........... 2617,036 2560911 2504787 2448662 2392537 2336413 22186
Totl......cooiiniineae. ¥ 2729285 ¥ 2673160 ¥ 2617036 ¥ 2560911 ¥ 2504787 ¥ 2448662 5 3,251
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20. Financial Instruments

{(a) Qualitative information for financial instruments
i Policy for financial instrument transactions
The Company raises funds through loans payable and the issuance of mvestment units to acquire real estate properties, pay property
maintenance expenses andlor repay existing loans payable. Surplus finds are managed carefully through investments n financial instrurnents
takdng into account Hquidity and saféty in light of the current financial market conditions. Derivative instrnumients are used onlv for hedging
purposes and not for speculation. The Company did not enter into any derivative transactions for the six months ended June 30, 2011,
December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, me 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013.

.  Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments and risk management

The fimds raised through loans payable are mainly used to acquire real estate properties or properties in trust and for the repayment of existing
loans payable. Liquidity risks relating to loans payable are managed by the finance department of the Asset Manager by preparing monthly
plans for finds, and monitoring the covenants defined in loan agreements.

ii. Supplenental information for financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments is based on quoted market prices if available. When quoted market prices are not available, fiir value is
estimated using valuation techniques which contain various assurnptions. If other valuation models or assumptions were used, the estimated
value may differ.
() Quantitative information for financial instruments
The following table shows the carrying amounts, fair values and valuation differences of financial instruments for which fair value is available as of June
30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012, Decernber 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2013.

Asof
June 30,2011 December3l, 2011 Jume 30,2012 Decamber31, 2012
TCayirg ‘ : Carying : - Canyng ‘ - Cayng : ‘
anours Fairvale Difference Farvale Difference Fair value Difference Fairvahie Differencs
(I thousands of yen)

Assats:
Cumrenit:
{I)C=handbankdeposis..... ¥ 247I7® ¥ 24RI178 ¥ - ¥ 3147282 ¥ 31147282 ¥ — ¥ 308004l ¥ 3080041 ¥ - ¥ WAM ¥ mam ¥ -
@) Cashandbankdepositsintnost, 223,864 2208,864 — 2,056,083 2,056,083 — 2130,105 2130,105 - 2786,480 2786,480 —

Toelassets ....oovvenee-.. ¥ 462043 ¥ 458243 ¥ — ¥ 528366 ¥ 5208366 ¥ — ¥ 5210146 ¥ 5210146 ¥ - ¥ 3531910 ¥ 3531910 ¥ b
Liahilities::
()Shottern loanspayable ... ¥ 25796425 ¥ 5706425 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ s 1 -
) Curent porion of bngeEm
kanspayable...........o.os ... - - - 262000 262007 7 262,000 262025 3 262,000 2,039 »
{5 Longterm banspayabie....... - - - 20472500 20485275 12775 20,341,500 20369393 27893 20500 2788497 27997
&) Curent porien of iongterm
baspydlenmst.............. 16800000 16,800000 - - - - - - - - - -
{7 Longtem s payebiein tust — — - 11,000,000 11,060,554 5554 11,000,600 11,087,830 o780 20860000 21,19597% B5EX

Towllizbilifes . ............... ¥ 42596425 ¥ 42506405 ¥ — ¥ 31784500 ¥ 31807837 ¥ 7337 ¥ LGB0 ¥ 31729240 ¥ 125749 ¥ 43582500 ¥ 446517 ¥ 2e4017

Asof
ﬁ.\, June30.2013 Decamber31, 2013 Decermber 31, 2013
Camying . . Cenymg . , Canying - §
Feir valus Tifferencz amouns Far vatue Diffezenie Farvah.]e_ Difference
fin thousands ofyan) {in thousands of US, dollers)

Assets,
Current
(1)Cash endbink deposs........... ¥ 1427483 ¥ 1427483 ¥ - ¥ 1457257 ¥ 1457257 ¥ - 8§ 1B®BT § 3BT S -
(2)Cash andbank deposisintrust .. ... 2690331 2,690,331 - 2729502 2725902 - 592 592 -

Totalassets. ... ¥ 4117815 ¥ 417815 % I 4187160 ¥ 4187160 ¥ - 3 3B S WS -
Lishilities::
(3) Shortstern omspayable..... .......... - - - - - — - - -
@) Cument pertion of bngterm loms
payable. ... ¥ 000 ¥ 1952 ¥ 1952 ¥ AB50 ¥ AB50 ¥ - $ 1932 8 192§ -
(S}Lengtemlomspayable ... 2628500 22982788 33288 20146480 20,146480 - 191,306 191306 -
{6) Cumert porion of longtem bang
Payable ATTEL . v - - - 105,833 106409 5% 1004 1010 5
(TYLongtenm oans payablein st . .. 20,960,000 21117642 157642 20,854,166 21,127212 773045 1980125 0619 25%

Total biabilites.. ................. ¥ 43,851 500 ¥ 44314382 ¥ AGZRE2 ¥ 41,310000 ¥ 41,583,622 ¥ IBEN 5 3020 $ 3,868 § 259

Note (1): The methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value are as follows:
(1) Cash and bank deposits and (2} Cash and bank deposits in frust
Becanse of their short maturities, the camying amounts approximate their fair value.
(3) Short-term loans payable
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Because of their short maturittes and floating interest rates reflecting changes in market rates within a short term period, the
carrying amounts of short-term loans payable approximate their fair values.

(4) Current portion of long-term loans payable, (5) Long-term loans payable, (6) Current portion of long-teren loans payable in trust
and (7) Long-term Joans payable intrust
The fair values of long-term loans payable with fixed interest rates are determined based on the present value of coniractual cash
flows discounted at current market interest rates which would be applicable to new loans payable under the same conditions and
terms. Long-term loans payable with floating interest rates reflecting changes in market rates within a short term period are
stated at their carrying amounts as thelr carrying amounts approximate their fir values.

Note (2): Financial instruments for which: fair value is difficult to determine are as follows:

Asof
June 30, Decerniber 31, June 30, December 31, June 33, Decemmber 31, December 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
. (inthousands of
{in housands ofyer) U1, doflers)
Tenant leasehold and security deposits. . ¥ 18357 ¥ 183570 ¥ 18357 ¥ 183,50 ¥ 183579 ¥ 183579 § 1,743
Tenant leasehold and seaumity deposits
iR TS 1113610 930462 905,696 1059315 1048635 1037721 9353

Tenartt leasehold and security deposits are not publicly traded, and it is difficult to determine their fair value based on estimated fiture cash
flows because the repayment dates of those deposits are not certain. Therefore, these financial instruments are not included in the above quantitative
information.

Note (3): Cash flow schedule of financial assets after the balance sheet date

Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 34 years 45 years Crer 5years
(i fhousands ofyen) - T

AsofJune 30, 2011:
Cashamd bank deposits. .. ....oou i i ¥ 2478178 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
Cash and bank depostts I rust . oovvveneenieeveeen s 2203864 - - - - -
TOL 1o rst et ettt ¥ 4682043 ¥ . ¥ . ¥ . ¥ . ¥ .
As of Decgrmber 31, 2011
Cash and bank deposits.. .. ... ¥ 3147282 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
Cosh and harik deposts Ut oo 2056083 . . . _ .
s P ¥ 3203366 ¥ -~ ¥ -~ ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
Az of hme 30, 2012:
Cashandbankdeposits .. ... een i ¥ 3080047 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - E -
Cash and bank deposits inust ... oineenn .o, 2,130,105 - - - - -
s ¥ 5210146 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -~ ¥ . ¥ -
As of Decernber 31, 2012:
gash i bk deposits, . . ouu e ¥ 509 ¥ « ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -

andbank deposits intmst . ...l 2786480 - - B - "
TotEL e ¥ 3531910 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -

1427483 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
2690331 - - - - .
4117815 ¥ . ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
1457257 ¥ . ¥ . ¥ - % . ¥ -
2729502 - - - - .
4187160 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
Within [ year 1-2 years 2-3years 34 years 4-5 years Over 5 years

(inthousands of U.S. dollars)

As ofDecember31, 2013:

13837 % - 3 3 - 3 - $ .
39760 % - 3 § - 3 E] -
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‘Within 1 vear 1-2 vears 2-3years 34 veas 4-3 years Over 5 years
{in thonsands of yer)
As of une 30, 2011:
Short-exm loans payable . ... ..o ¥ 25,796,425 - - ¥ - - ¥ -
Current portion of shost-term loans payable ............... 16,200,000 - - - - .
TOEL .ot ¥ 42596425 - - ¥ - E - ¥ -
As of Decerrber 31, 2015
Current patticn of short-term ioans pavable, . ............ ¥ 262,000 - - ¥ - - ¥ -
Long-termloanspayable. . ..........cccooevniiiiiinnn, - 262,000 10,774,500 9436000 - -
Langermnloans payablein st ... ..................... - - 105,833 432,275 442466 10,019424
TOEL ..o ¥ 262,000 262,000 10880333 ¥ 9868275 ¥ 42466 ¥ 10019424
As of Jane 30, 2012
Current portion of shorterm loans payable. .............. ¥ 262,000 - - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
Longdem lomspayeie. ... ............. ) - 262,000 20,079,500 - - -
Longerm loanspaysbleintrust ..........ccoovieneannas - - 320581 436,972 3787346 6454695
TAHAL v ¥ 262,000 262,000 20400481 ¥ 436972 ¥ 3787346 ¥ 6454699
As of Decemmber 31, 2012;
Current pertion of short-term Ioans payable. ¥ 262,000 - - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
Longtermlemspayable. ... - 13,324,300 9436000 - - -
Longtermlomspayabletntnist,. .o .ovveienieninan, - 105,833 450442 516,273 3319427 16,068,022
ToRAL L. eeeeee e e ¥ 262,000 13,430,333 98862 ¥ 516273 ¥ 3319427 ¥ 16,068022
Asof fune 30, 2013:
Current pextion of short-erm loars payable............... ¥ 262,000 - - ¥ - ¥ « ¥ -
Long-term: boans payable. ._.._..................c...o.. - 22,629,300 - - - .
Long-terem loms payable st .........ooeieeeerenn. - 320,981 491,866 3861986 6238387 10,046,777
Tl ..o ¥ 262,000 22950481 9186 ¥ 3861986 ¥ 6238387 ¥ 10,046,777
As of Decemmber 31, 2013:
Cumrent portion of short-erm loans payeble, ............... ¥ 203,520 - - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
Longermlomspayable. ...........cocoveeeeiiaeeiaenns - 203,520 19.942.560 - - -
Cument peation of long-term foans payable In trust.. . ... 105,833 - - - . -
Long-teom Joans payablein trust . - 430,442 516,273 3819427 6,196,028 9871003
Tl oo 309.353 653,962 20459233 ¥ 3819427 ¥ 6106028 ¥ 9871993
-
Within 1 year 1-2 vears 2-3 years 34 years 4.5 years Oher 5 vears
(in thousands of 1.5, dollars)
As of December 31, 2013
Current pottion of shortterm loms payable. ... ......... § 1932 - - % - % - % -
Long-termloas payable. ...........c..o.ocoeveeeenn. - 1,942 189373 - - -
Curent pantion of long2enm loans payable n trust. ... ... 1004 - - - - -
Long-term loans payableintmst ....................... - 4777 4502 36,268 58836 93,742
T e oves e e . 3 2937 6209 194276 $ 36268 3 528% 8 w742
21. Segment Information

Effective from the six months ended June 30, 2011, the Company adopted “Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information” (ASBT Statement No, 17, revised on March 27, 2009), and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of
an Enterprise and Related finformation” (ASBJ Guidance No. 20, issued on March 21, 2008).

Segment mformation for the six months ended June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and December 31,

2013 is as follows:
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(2) Operating Segment Information
Diselosure is omitted as the Company is comprised of a single reportable segment engaged in the property rental business.
() Enterprise-wide Disclosures
(1) Iformation abowe Products and Services
Disclosure is not required as revenues from external customers for the single segment are nt excess of 90%% of total revenues,

{ 1) Iformation abowt Geographic Areas
Reverues from Overseas Customers:
Disclosure is not required as revenues ffom external customers located in Japan are in excess of 90% of totad revenues.

Temgible Fixed Assets:
Disclosure is not required as tangible fixed assets located in Japen are in excess of 90% of total tangible fixed assets.

{0 Information about Major Customers
Disclosure is omitted as niet sales to a single external customer account for less than 10% of the operating revenue on the stement of operations and
retained earmings.

22, Related-Party Transactions
(a) Parent Company and Major Carporate Unitholders
For the six months ended Jume 30, 2011
None

For the six months ended December 31, 2011

. 8963)

Fpeof Compary Locaion Business Sherecepil(in | Vongineest | Relonshp 1 Tinsactions Brihepemod Bamceatheendofperiod
rldbpany nams miiosofyen) | nteCompay | witthe Tpeof Amounts (@ Babance sheetaccount Amounts (n
Compaty | tmnsactons fousands ofym) housadsof
@ yen)@)

Interesied Shinsei Tust& | Chuodu, Fnane ¥ 50m - Lender Lom-iated costs ¥ 14M%5 | Longtenmprped ¥ 87960

party ofthe Baking Co, [ Tkyo business expenss
AsstMamager | Led(l) Prepaid expenses ¥ %0817
Longsteares socrisesd ¥ 143100

EXPErsES
Accrued expenses P o
Inferestexpenses ¥ 494448 | Acoued epems ¥ 182

Notes:

(I)  The Company chtained borrowings of $10,200,000 thousand from Shinsei Trust & Banddng Co, Ltd on July 29, 2011. This loan mcludes transactions with Caliope which
. ‘became the parent compeny of the Asset Manager on july 29, 2011.
In addition, the Company completed third paty allotment of ¥5,999,.999 thousand with: Calliope cn July 29, 2011. Also, on the same day, the Company peid to Calliope
¥336,500 thousand for fnandal advisory services related to the repayment of Toans payable, change of bormowing terms, and e stucturing of syndicae loan A and Prudential
1PS loan.
@  Consumption taxes are not induded in the transaction amount, but are included in the balancs at the end of period.

For the stx months ended June 30, 2012

Frpeof Company Lacation Brsiness Shaecgpizlin | Voingmemst | Reltonstp | Trnsactionsfriheperiod Babmoeattheend of period

relatec-pany nzmme milinsofyen} | mtheCompay | wihthe Tpeof AmoEts Bakanoe shest account Amots

Company fnsactons thousandsofymn) thousandsof
@ ye)(3)

Interested Shinse Tnustéc | Chuoday, Fnmce ¥ o500 [ — Lender Repaymentof ¥ 56000 | Longiem:loanspaysble ¥ 9Te000

paty ofthe BankingCo, Tekyo busines leng-temn Joans

AsstMangger | Lad payable (i) (2)

@ Loanelated costs ¥ 43527 | Longtermprepsid ¥ 14319%
expenses
Prepaid experses ¥ 90270
Longterm accued ¥ 1413153
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exparses
Accued exparsss ¥ 17640
fterest expense ¥ 25928 | Accruedeqenses ¥ 149395

Notes:

(1) Theconditicns ofthe ransaction are induded in Nete 9.

()  This loen includes transactions with Calliope which became the parent company of he Asset Manager m July 29, 2011. Calliope halds 609,942 writs (holdig ratio:
45.23%) of the issued nvestment units of the Compary:

3y  Consumption taxes aenctincnded in the transaction amount, bat are induded in the balance at the end of period.

For the six mowths ended December 31, 2012

Typeof Compay Location Phsiness Sherecginl(n | Voingimerest | Reltionshp | Tensacimsfrtheperind Babriceartheend ofperiod
relztecparty name millimsofyen) | intheCompary | withthe Tpeof Amounts Balancesheet account Amounes (o
Conpay | trasacions thousndsof yen) thousandsof
® ven){@
Tnferespedd Shingel Tst& | Chooriay, Finance ¥ 500 | — Lencier Repayent  of [ ¥ 56000 | Longterm has payable § ¥ 9560000
party ofthe Banking Co, | Tokyo business longterm  loans ]
AssaMmeger | Led payabiz(1)2)
@ Eoanrelamed costs ¥ 45506 | Lengtern prepaid ¥ 5760
expanes
Prepaid expenses ¥ S0I0
Longiermaccmed ¥ 1404333
experses
Accrued experess ¥ 1760
Interest expensas x 478601 | Acenued experses ¥ 141503
Tevested PhodaGode | Mimoky | Fome ¥ a | — Sellerof Acqusifonofrust | ¥ 143000 | — —
pary of the Kaiha(3} Tokyo business st beneficiary Mterest
AssetManzger beneficimy | inproperiestst
5] st [Glole}
Notes:
{1)  The conditions of the tremsaction are inchuded in Note 5.
(2)  'This loan includes transactions with Calliope which became the parent company of e Asset Manager on July 29, 2011, Calliope holds 609,942 unils (holding ratio:
4523%) of the issued investment units of the Company;
{3)  The seiler, Rhodia Godo Kaisha, receives an anonymous parinership invesment through fimmds that ave maneped by FIG, an affiliae of Calliope. Accordingly, we treat Rhodia
Godo Kaisha as arelated party:
i 4)  Sale price and acquisition price exdide adjusted amount of real property tix and city planning tax, as well as consurmption tex and local consumption tax. The same shall apply

hereinafier

{5)  Temns and conditions are decided pwsuant to the Asset Manager’s Regiigtions on Tramsactions with Sponsorselated Persons and the Manappment Manual regarding

Tremsactions with Sponsor-related Persons.

6  Consumption tmes s notincluded in the treansaction amoun, bit are included in the balance at the end of petiod
(7} Forthe details on the propenties, please reférto “Note 6: Property and Equipment™.

For the six months ended Jurne 30, 2013

Typeof Company Location Bushnes Shearcaizi(n | Votng Relatonship | Transachions forthe period Babmceatthe end of period
relted ety namme millonsofyen) § ierestin withthe Foeof AmaEsn Balmee sheeteccourt Amouns fn
the Compry | tansactons trensandsofyen) thomedsof
Conpany ® y=) @)
Tntezested] Shingei Tustde | Chunday Fnince ¥ s — Lender Repymantof ¥ %00 | Longt=mbanspayable ¥ 9504000
party of the BankingCo, Tokyo busines Ingtem bens
AssatMonager | Lad payable (@)
@ Loan-selzted costs ¥ 475 | Longtermprepaid ¥ 52625
expEnses
Prepaidexpenses ¥ 2027
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Long-tem accried ¥ 1395513

apEsEs

Apcred expenses ¥ 17,640
Interestexpenses ¥ 418332 | Accnedepmses ¥ H0614

Notes:

(1)  The conditions of the transaction are included i Note 9.

(2)  This fom inclndes wamsactions with Calliope, which becams the parent company of the Asset Manager on July 29, 2011. Calliope holds 609,42 wits (hotding ratio:
4593%)eﬁleismdinvemmﬁtsofme@mpauy
(3)  Consumption taxes are nat indluded in the transaction amount, but are included in the balance at the end of perdod.

For the six months ended December 31, 2013

. 8963)

Typeal Corragyramme Locion Busis. e capind ip thepeiod Balrxrattheerdofperiod
oy fordlios | (n ke wihte Tygmoftrmsdions AmousG) Balmos et eoins Anoirte e
ofye townk | Compry Conary Eowendsofye)
. tntheusngof (nthousedsof o
v US.dolry
doflars)
Inlerestect pertyof- Shissci Trust & Chodas Firaposs ¥ 500 BATATR —_ Eender Repayment of gt ¥ 9504000 3 919 Lovg-ennloans —
toAsthimgr | Babing Cold | Ty busmess loans payahleqTiz) payeble
[£3] Lomyscdasdeodts (3} ¥ 14319 s 1359 Long-am prepaid -
e
Freptlexperaes -
Longeanaesroed -
-
Avir epens. _
henstpmas ¥ o2 | 8 268 | Acccdepmes -
ReyoGodo Kaidzz MiratoFaL, It ¥ 0ol 5 o 953% Afffideofite Ucerwriting conmgemny ¥ 199009 3 18991 - —
Tk T pETt of apitul nee
at oty ofter
tusivess At Marnger
Noges:
(1)  Theconditions ofthe transaction areincluded in Note 9.
(2)  This loen includes transactions with Calliope which becarme the parent compeany of the Asset Manager o July 29, 2011, Calliope holds 609,942 units (holding ratio:
38.77%) of the issued investment uis of the Company,
(3 Consumprion: taxes are notinduded in the wansaction amount, but are induded in the balance at the end of period
{#  Rayo Godo Kaisha md the Asset Manager have no capital relationship to be disdosed Rayo Godo Kaishz has recsived s anonymous pertnership investment frough
i fimds that are managed by FIG, an affiliate of Calliope.

(5)  Accrued expenses and longiierm accrued expenses decreased due: to redemption hefore maturity date and this transaction is not inchaded above,

(b) Board of Directors and Major Individual Unitholders
For the six morths ended June 30, 2011

Fpeof Narme Business/Ocepation Votng imerest in | Trensacions frheperiod Balcsattheend ofperind
rekatechparty the Campany Trpeoftensactions Amounts (in Balance shest acoount Amemts [T
thousands ofyeni) tousendsof
@ yer)@)
Direcios and Naoki Executive officer of the Company and b Payment of the: asels menggement foe 1o ¥ 130256 | Accrued expenses ¥ 237,560
coserelatives Shibatsui management diracterof Consonant Conscnant Investment Management Co,
Tnvestment Management Co, Ll Led()
Notes:
() Naold Shibatsuji serves as 2 representative of the Asset Manaper and the asset managpment fae is established in the Artides of Incarporation of the Compery:
2} Consumption taxes are notincluded in the transaction amount, but are included in the balance #¢ the end of period.
For the six moviths ended December 31, 2011
Bpeof Narme: Busness/ Qopation ‘oing mierest | Transactions frthe pennd Balance at the end of period
elated-party ntheCompary | Tpeofimmsacions Amouns [ Balance sheet accournt Amanis{m
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thousands of'yen) thousands of
0] ye ()
Diecies and | Neoki Exeautive officer of the Compary and | — Paymart of the ases mmapemnt fe © ¥ 150055 | Accued expenses ¥ TS
dose relatives Shibatsui magemment drecor of  Consonant Consonan Investment Menagement Co, Lid (1}
Ersestent Management Co, Lid. Payment of the asseis saks f2e 1o Comsonant ¥ e | — -
Trvestment Menagemem Co, Ll (1)
Paymen of mstigion manzeement e o ¥ 20 | Accruedexpenses ¥ 210
Corsonant imestmen Menagement Co, LiL(Z)

Notes:
(I} Nacki Shibatsuji serves 2 a representative of the Asset Manager and the asset management foe is estoblished in the Articles of Incorporation of the Cornpeny.
(2)  Naokd Shibasuji serves asa representative of the Asset Manager and the ¢ is established in the “Administrative Agency Agreement for Organizational Meanagement” which was agreed
Detween the Asset Manager and the Company.
(3)  Consumption taxes aw not inchuded in the temsaction amownt, but are ncleded inthe balancs at the end of period

For the six mortths ended June 30, 2012
Fypeof Natng Busness/Oonupation btngimeresst | Transections forthe period Babnceattheendofperiod
Telated-party intheCompay | Trpecfimmsacions Amexans ([ Balance sheetaccount Amouns (i
thousands ofyar} thousands  of
] ye3)
Diecors and | Naola Exeatveofficer ofthe Company and - Paymentofthe asses manasement feeln ¥ 150000 | Accrued expenses ¥ 78750
close relatives Strbatsuji manzagementdirector of Consonet Consongnt nvestrment Management Co, Lid (1)
Tervestrevert Menaperment Co, Ll Payment of institution management fe o | ¥ 600 | Accriedexpenses ¥ 315
Consonant Ervestment Manzgement Co, Lii(2)
Notes:

(1) Naoki Shibetsui serves as a representative of the Asset Manager and the asset memagemrent s is established in the Articles of Incarporation of the Cormpans.
(2)  Nacki Shibatsuji serves as arep ive of the Asset Manager and the f is established in the “Admiristrative Agency Agreement for Organizational Management” which was agreed
between the Asset Maraper and the Comparry:

(3} Consumption taxes ae not included in the mamsaction amout, bt are irduded in the balance at the end of period.

For the six months ended December 31, 2012

THrpeof Namg Business/ Cocupation Votnginterest Transactions fortie penod Balmeeatthe endofipeiod
relatec-party mheCompary | Tpeoftrsactions Amounts (i Balance sheet account Amomts (T
thousands of yer) thonsands of
& ye)(3)
Directos and Naoki Executiveofficer of'the Company end — Payment of he asssts management freto x 130067 | Aocrued expenses ¥ 56032
, close relatives Shibatsuji menegement drectorof Canscrnant Consonarit Investment Memagement Co, L (1)
» Trvestnent Managernent Co, Ll Payrnentof msiifution management f=to ¥ LI00 | Accuedexpersss ¥ blod
ConsonantInvestment Manapement Co, Ld (2)
Notes:

{1)  Naoki Shibatsuji serves asarepresentaiive of the Asset Manager and the asset management fee is established in the Articles of Incorporation of the Carpeany:

2 Naoki Saibatsui serves s a represemrative of the Asset Manager and the £ is established in the “Administrative Agency Agreement for Organizational Mansgement” which was agreed
betwesn the Asset Meanager and the Company.

(3)  Consumption tepes e ot induded i the trensaction amount, but are included in the balance at the end of period.

For the six months ended June 30, 2013
Frpect Nare Business /Cotupation ofingiierest | Trensactions for heperiod Balknce artheendof period
adaeparty ntheCompay | Fpeofransactons Anuens i Bakmosshestaccout Amouns(n
thousands ofyen) thousands of
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()] yen}@)
Drecosad | MNeokiFuaxda | ExeasiveofficeroftheCompany and — Payment of the assets management fee o ¥ 125000 | Acorued expases ¥ 65,62
dosarelatives managementdirsctor of Consanant Comsonant nvestrment Menagement Co, Lid(1) 5
Investment nzgement Co, Ltd. Payrment of nstitution mansgement faeto ¥ 1,000 | Accrued expenses ¥ 8B40
Consonnt Ivestment Management Co., Lic (2)

Notes:
(1} MNaoki Fakudaserves as arepresentative of the Asset Meanager and the esset manspgemernt fe is established in: the Articles of Inecrporation of the Conpary:
(@  Nadki Fuluda serves as a representative of the Asset Manager and the fée is etablished in the “Administrative Agency Agreernent for Organizational Management” witich: was agreed
between the Asset Manager and the Cotmpamy:
(@) Consumption twes are notinduded in the transaction amount, but are induded in the balance 2 the end of period.
@  Neok Fukuda was cleced a5 amiew Mmagemert, direcior to Teplace Nacki Shibatsii on the board of fhe Asset Manager on May 31, 2013. In additior, Naoki Fukuda was elected as new
Executive officer to replace Naokd Shibatsui ar the peneral meeting of unitholders of the Comperry at June 28, 2013, The amoust above meludes the transactions during the fill sixmonths,

For the six months ended December 31, 2013

Bpeof Mame | Business/Cooupetion oing Trsaczions frtheperiod Balnce sithe endofperiod
elateckpeny et | peofwnsons Amomts () Balace Amowss ()
e {howsmbof | (howmdsef | T W o —
Corpary yen) US.dolems) eccoutt ousmds | of US.
cfyen) dollars)
Drcosmd | Mok | BreareoficercfheConpayad | — Paymedofhesses mmmgementfets | ¥ 125000 | § LI86 | Acued ¥ eses| 3 63
cdose relatives Fulknda managementdirector of Consonant Consnant Envestment Management Co,, apases
Tnvestment Menagement Co, Ld, Lid(1)
Paymentofnsttuton maegementfeen | ¥ @ | s 5 | Accoued ¥ 315 3 2
Comsmant Investment Manageme Co., expass
L
() Naoki Fukuda serves as aepresenintive of'the Asset Manager and the asset management fee is established n the Articles of nooporation ofthe Companry,
@) Necki Fukuda serves as a preseriztive of Asset Mansger and the Be is estblished in the “Administative Agency Agreement for Orgarizational Menagement” which was agrosd

‘Detween the Asset Manager and the Company:
(@) Consumption taxes ae not incuded in the transaction amount, bat are included in the balance at the end of period.

23. Per Unit Information

The following table shows net asset value per unit as of June 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2013, and net income(loss) per unit for the six months then ended. Net income(loss) per unit is caleulated by dividing the net income(loss)
attributable to unitholders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the six-ronth period. The Comparny has no potentially dilutive

8~
As of/ For the six morths ended
June 30, Decerrber 31, e 30, Decerriber 31, e 30, December 31, December 31,
2011 2011 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
(Yen) (US. dollzrs)
Net asset valne perunit ¥ 44874 ¥ 24451 ¥ 4346 ¥ 2731 ¥ 4363 ¥ R 5 216
Net incore {loss) per . .. .. ... (2099 (1997 9% 85 249 259 2
Weighted average anmber of units, 636,695 1240,005 1348292 1348292 1348292 1362959 -
24, Subsequent Events
None
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